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Hard work of many
led to Stewart Park

One of Corning’s busy resi-
dential areas, complete with
recreational facilities and
efficient housing, is Stewart
Park on the north side of the
city, off Baker and Winfield
streets,

It got its start in the late
1920s, mainly as a badly-
needed city park to provide a
place for youth and family
activities. After all, the
Southside had Denison Park,
so why, too, shouldn’t the
Northside also have a park.

Spearheading the park
project was a group of civic-
minded men, including
Albert Bonnell. He was
the father of journalist/CGW
public relations veteran Don
Bonnell of South Corning.
Here’s his story of the park’s
history: '

In that era, the several
acres of public land which
now encompasses Stewart
Park were bounded by the
upper end of Sly Avenue,
Thorn Street, Winfield Street
and the extreme easterly end
by Baker Street.

The section along Sly
Avenue and Thorn Street |
had a colony of New York
Central Railroad men - engi-
neers, firemen and switch-
men. They, along with my
father, a roundhouse
employee, daily walked a
mile or two to work at the

" roundhouse and north yards.
Their path cut deeply
through the Stewart Park
property. It ran from the cor-
ner of Sly and Thorn toward
Winfield Street and then
through a wooded lot and
hill, eventually coming out
on Baker Street near the
present VEW Post home.

That rough and hilly sec-
tion was known to the Kids
and old-timers as the “Rock-
a-Bye.” It was used by scores
of people from all over the
Northside for sledding dur-
ing the winter months.

My father, after talking
with several of his railroad
friends (Cornish, Dee,
Gamble, Owens, Perry,
‘Rockwell, etc.) saw the need

- for a playground for the
‘neighborhood Kids during
‘the summer.

PEERING
Dick Peer

He found a corps of volun-
teers willing to work on the
proposal. Then he took his
idea to John Bell, who was
the alderman for the Sly
Avenue-area ward of the city.
The alderman liked the pro-
posal. He checked the city
property records and found
the large plot of land
involved was owned by the
Stewart family.

In those days the family
owned and lived in what is
now the Patterson Inn on
East Pulteney Street,

The head of the Stewart
family also liked the propos-
al and eventually deeded the
land to the city for lifetime
use as a public park. With
the site now assured, it was
time to go to work.,
Everybody started pitching
in, being especially boosted
by Alderman Bell.

Businesses and individuals

‘loaned heavy chains and
the use of earth-moving
equipment, tradesmen from
the New York Central
Railroad helped out, and
large telephone poles and
lights donated by the phone
company were placed with
help from New York State
Electric and Gas personnel.
NYSEG also worked with the
city in later years to erect
lights in the park for
evening play in the play-
ground area and for evening
outdoor picnics,

The first piece of play-
ground equipment built by
the volunteers were six large
swings made from heavy
chains attached to telephone
poles.

This attracted so many
children the first year that

during '28 and '29 the city

——
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and volunteers added sand
boxes, picnic tables and
benches, sliding boards and
other pieces of playground
equipment,

Two large baseball dia-
monds were built in the flat
area along Sly Avenue. Many
of the teens of the neighbor-
hood worked summers as
caddies at the Corning

- Country Club and they
pitched in to build a small
five-hole golf course.

The Rock-a-Bye hilly area
facing Baker Street was
cleaned of brush to make
sledding safer and more
attractive for children and
adults alike. Eventually, the
latter section became home
to the worldwide Cinderella
Girls Softball organization.

The flatland near Baker
Street in the early days was
used by Baker Street ball
players as the home dia-
mond in the early days of
the City Baseball League,
which consisted of eight
teams from all parts of the
Corning area. Many young
Northside High

School baseball players got
extended early training dur-
ing the Depression years on
the baseball diamonds in the

* park. Several of them even-

tually won pro baseball con-
tracts after high school base-
ball under the coaching of
Jake Jacoby, Frankie Rotsell
and other diamond mentors.

As years went by, the park
project which had started in
1927 grew by leaps and
bounds - picnic areas and
baseball facilities were
expanded and some 30 years
later an outdoor swimming

pool was built, . :

. ,..So0n after the close of
World-War II, housing was
short for homecoming veter-
arns. i

To alleviate the shortage,
the city obtained several sur-
plus ‘military buildings from

Sampson Naval Base on
Seneca Lake. They were

+ trucked to the Stewart Park

site and rebuilt on land
along Winfield Street. Scores

- of young war brides started

building their families in
that Stewart Park Housing
project.

The project is a glowing
example of what dedicated
men and a community can
do to fill a need by cooperat-

ing together to work for the
benefit of all. '
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Denison family

The name “Denison” is a well-known
one in Corning.

Today people drive along Denison
Parkway and in the summer enjoy the facil-
ities of Denison Park. However, there’s not
a “Denison” name in the telephone book
or the city directory. Although the original
Denisons have faded :
into history, the mark
they left on this com-
munity remains.

The Denison fami-

-ly’s role in the com-

- munity’s business and
- growth started in

. 1848 when Charles

- G. Denison, a native

| of Susquehanna

| County, Pa., came to

Dick

: Corning to work as a
- clerk in the store of Peer
< his uncle, G. D. e

- Williams. That was :

- the same year the community was incorpo-

i rated as a village.

. After his marriage in 1855, he and his

\bride, the former Martha Land, moved to

Tioga, Pa. where for two years he was a
merchant. But they had liked Corning
when here, so they moved back in 1857. A
son, C.L. Denison, was born to them in
1859. The blood of a businessman ran

through the elder Denison’s veins and he
founded a respected business which contin-
ued until his death in 1892, selling coal,
wood, farm supplies, flour and feed. In the
canal days he conducted a warehouse and
shipping business. His warehouse was
located on the north side of Tioga Avenue
just off Pine Street Square, now Centerway

Square. He was a proud member of his

adopted community, serving several terms
as village president and trustee and for
more than 20 years was a member of the
Board of Education.

After his death the business, C. G.
Denison & Son, wholesale and retail deal-
ers in coal and masons supplies, was passed
to his son, C. L. Denison.,

Like his father, C. L. was an astute busi-
nessman, He had graduated from Corning
Free Academy and then gone on to
Rochester to attend business school.
Afterward he returned to Corning to work
with his father.

But he had his eyes on bigger things and
bigger cities. As a young man he went to
Buffalo as a wholesaler of coal and stayed
there four years. When mine owners dis-
continued having shippers and instead sold
directly to the wholesalers, C.L. raoved on,
this time to New York City. About the
same time he purchased some coal mines
near Morris Run, Pa. and continued as a

wholesaler through his ownership of mines.

By now he was becoming wealthy
enough so that he could go on hunting trips
into Canada. On one of those trips he
learned of an apparently- worthless aban-
doned silver mine. He wasn't averse to tak-
ing risks in business so he purchased it. He
believed there might be more silver in it
which could be extracted using newer
methods. He was correct. Operations
started in 1906 and the mine continued to
produce silver from a new depth until the
mid-1920s. During that time more than $1
million worth of silver was mined.

In the early 1920s he took another gam-
ble which paid off. He purchased a gold

“mine at Kirkland Lake, Canada which was

considered a failure. He formed a company
to finance the project and set to work,
using more modern methods, Rich deposits
were found and the company stock went
from less than a dollar to over $12.
Eventually the mine had an annual output
of approximately $1,750,000.

The name “Denison” became well
known along Wall Street and he was called
“The Chief” by his associates. He built an
impressive home on Park Avenue, had a
summer home at Saddle River, N.J. and a
winter home in Pasadena, Calif,

However, C.L.s roots were still in
Corning, although he only infrequently

returned here. He continued to generously
support local projects, including donation
of about half the cost of $40,000 to develop

the park which is now called Denison Park.

His contributions were in memory of his
father, C. G. Later he added another
$14,000 for completion of the park lake.

C. L., was a life member of Painted Post
Masonic Lodge 117 and it was through his
generosity that the first seats in the Blue
Lodge room of the Frank B. Hower
Scottish Rite Cathedral were provided.

During World War I when a typhoid
fever epidemic hit the city, the water
department was making frantic efforts to
locate a new water supply and was plan-
ning on installing a violet ray system to
purify the water at a cost of $6,000 with an
upkeep of $18 a day. C. L. heard of the
problem and using his connections along
Wall Street suggested instead that a new-
type chlorine gas apparatus be installed
instead. He gave liberally for its installa-
tion. The cost to the city was $400 and the
daily upkeep was only 15 cents.

Yes, C.L. Denison was a hometown boy
who went off into the bigger world of busi-
ness and became a millionaire, but one
who never forgot his roots and all that he

had learned growing up in Corning.

PEI'R’S PEOPLE ... AND THINGS

left its mark on Corning and Twin Tiers

Joe Maloney, now of St. Louis, who
bemoaned the fact that he hadn’t found
any former Corningites living there, can
now have a Crystal City Reunion, Local
friends and relatives point out that the Rev.
Bill Findlay, former pastor of the First
Presbyterian Church of Corning, is there.
Frank Faulisi lives nearby in St. Peter’s,
Mo. and works for Moog Industries in St.
Louis. He's a 1962 graduate of Northside
High School, the last class to graduate
there.

Speaking of NHS, the Class of 1950 is
seeking some addresses of former mem-
bers to notify them of the 40th reunion this
summer. They are Burton Beebe, Paul
Brokaw, Alma Copp Leonard, Floyd
Damoth, Georgia Dodge Parsons, Betty
DuBois, Dora Dunning Keeney, Ann
Farmcomb, Charles Griffen, Ernest
Hackett, Eve (Pat) Hultzman, Doris
LaFever Appl, Donald Moore, Norma
Patterson, Bob Pitts, Gert Smith Henkle,

-Valeda Squires Shaffer, Barb Thompson

and Madeline Watson King. Those with
info called Carmine Darcangelo at 936-
6258 or Dominic Ferreira at 962-8831.

LAUGHLINES: Man to neighbor: “’Of
course my auto mechanic is good. If he
wasn’t, would I keep going back to him
every week?”



A LOOK AT CORNING'S PAST

The evolution of Canfield Park

In the mid 1830s the
Corning Company, led by
Erastus Corning of Albany,
developed a plan for the City
of Corning.

In the plan Block 66 was
set aside asa place for the use
of the residents of Corning.
Additionally, Block 66 could
be used as a site for churches
and government buildings.

It didn’t take very long
before buildings began to
appear in Block 66. By the
1850s, Block 66 included the
following buildings: a Baptist
Church of Lot 1, a Methodist
Church on Lots 3 and 4, a
Presbyterian Church on Lot
8, asmall schoolhouse on Lot
16 and a bigger schoolhouse
onLots4and 8.

In 1853 the Southern Jury
District of Steuben County,
designated Corning as the
second seat. This meant
Corning would need a court-
house. The following year,
work began on this building.

Corning’sfirst courthouse
occupied Lot 2 and 20 feet of

the western section of Lot 3.
The courthouse was com-
pleted in 1856-57. A jail was
constructed on Lot 9.

All in all, Block 66 was
beginning to be abusy place.
It is the presence of a court-
house that caused many to
later refer to Block 66 as
courthouse park.

Beforelong, changesbegan
to appear to some of the ear-
lier buildings built on Block
66. Inthe spring 0f 1862, the
Afro-American Community
purchased the schoolhouse
located on Lot 16. They used
thebuilding asaZion Church.

The Free Baptist Society
of Gibson bought Lot 8’s
Presbyterian Church and
it owned and operated this
church until 1883 when the
Salvation Army used it for
just a few weeks.

The Episcopal Society
sought permission to build
a church on the northeast
corner of Block 66, also
known as Lot 8.

The Village Board

of Trustees gave the
Episcopalians their permis-
sion. However, soon, the
Board of Trustees changed
their opinion and turned the
request down.

The Trustees did this
because a new state law had
been passed defining the uses
amunicipality could make of
property it owned. The law
did not include churches.
Ultimately the Episcopalians
were forced to cease their
building and find another site
for their new church.

The church was eventu-
ally build on the northwest
corner of First and Cedar
streets.

The next major occurrence
affecting Block 66 was the
building of anew courthouse.
The project was approved
by the County Board of
Supervisors in 1902. The
Supervisors approved that
$25,000 could be spent on
the new courthouse.

Foster Warner, a well-
know Rochester architect
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An old postcard shows children using Court House Park in

Corning. [PROVIDED]

was chosen to design the
new courthouse which
would be erected by Drake
and Company on Lots 6,7,
and 8. This same year,
Corning’s City Engineer
resigned. Robert H. Canfield
was chosentobethe new city
engineer.

On January 7, 1905, the
City of Corning ordered
Canfield to prepare estimates

and drawings of a plan to
change Public Square (Lot
66) into a park. Canfield did
this assignment completely
with great skills.

Next week, Canfield’s
plan.
(The source for the informa-
tion about Canfield Parkis
Historic Landscape Report:
Canfield Park; Denison
Park, Corning, New York)

How Ocasio-Cortez and new liberal women are cha

By Sahil Kapur
Bloomberg

A quartet of young
Democratic women, new
to Congress and unafraid
to push boundaries, is
making an audacious
attempt to set their party’s
agenda and shape the 2020
presidential campaign.

New York’s Alexandria
Ocasio-Cortez has floated
tax rates as high as 70
percent on top incomes
to fund a “Green New
Deal” and end fossil fuels.
Boston’s Ayanna Pressley
wants to clear the way for
passing legislation without
regard for its impact on
the deficit. Detroit’s Ilhan
Omar secured a House rule
change that let her wear

a religious head scarf in
Copyrig
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Rep. Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez, D-N.Y., top center, stands for a photograph with House

4l

Democratic women members of the 116th Congress on Jan. 4 in Washington. [ANDREW HARRER/

BLOOMBERG]

the chamber. Michigan’s
Rashida Tlaib drew rebukes
for a profanity-laced call to
impeach President Donald
Trum
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“Everything we do has
some element of trans-
forming the conversation,”
Ocasio-Cortez said in

an interview. “We're
Privacy Policy &bull; Terms of Use

the party of the New
Deal and that’s the kind
of Democrat that I am,
and so I'm of course
going to be advocating for

nging their party

those viewpoints.”

These womenreflect the
changing face of a party
that’s becoming younger,
increasingly diverse, and
more progressive. All four
are are under 45. Pressley
is black, Ocasio-Cortez is
of Puerto Rican descent,
and Tlaib and Omar are
Muslim. They’re active
on social media, where
they promote causes like
Medicare for all and free
public college, all aimed
at stretching the percep-
tion of what’s possible and
transforming the national
debate.

Their more radical pro-
posals are along way from
taking root, and many
Democratic colleagues are
concerned that they are
defining the party for the
broad swathalygterswba
generally are more conser -
wvative <+i11 <come of the
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Achsinessink

Monument Dedication
June 9, 1996

by

Bill Treichler

A new monument commemorating the Delaware Indian village Achsinessink and given in memory of
Ellsworth Cowles (1898 - 1992) who identified Spanish Hill near Waverly and the Lamoka site at Lake Lamoka
will be dedicated at 2:00 pm, Sunday, June 9, 1996.

The ceremony will be held at the triangular park in Corning where Houghton Circle and Pershing Street
intersect off East Pulteney Street near the Museum of Glass. There will be a reception at the Benjamin Patterson
Inn following the program.

The monument has been a project of the Newtown-Battle Chapter, Sons of the American Revolution, The
Corning-Painted Post Historical Society, The City of Corning, and artist Fritz Wasser.

Achsinessink, a Delaware word meaning stone on stone, referred to the columns of layered rock left by erosion
along the Chemung River near the stronghold of the Monsey Clan. The Andaste Trail went through their village
named Achsinessink. The path west from the settlement, became known as "The Forbidden Trail," because
Europeans were prohibited from using the route.

Echgohund and Teedyuscung were Delaware leaders there during the French and Indian War. Achsinessink
village was destroyed by British and Iroquois forces in 1764.

The stone formations were called the "Chimney Rocks" by the pioneers. The rock columns were destroyed by
railroad construction in 1881 and highway building in 1974.


http://www.crookedlakereview.com/articles/67_100/99june1996/99toc.html
http://www.crookedlakereview.com/authors/treichlerbill.html
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EREFACE

This report was completed during the months of May through September 1994. It was
sponsored by Market Square Restoration Agency funded by grants from the New York State
Council on the Arts, which was administered by the Preservation League of New York State, the
Three Rivers Development Foundation, the Corning Incorporated Foundation and the Market
Street Restoration Agency. Hunt Engineers and Architects provided site surveys for both parks.

The document was researched and written by Kenneth J. Allen, Research Assistant Intern
of Market Square Restoration Agency. The project was supervised by Professor George W,
Curry of the Faculty of Landscape Architecture at the State University of New York, College of
Environmental Science and Forestry.

The report brings together, for the first time, all known data regarding Canfield and
Denison Parks. It documents the historic evolution of both parks and records the changes to each
of the character-defining features of the landscapes. For Canfield Park the existing conditions
are recorded and a statement of significance is presented along with an evaluation of its integrity.
The time schedule did not allow existing conditions for Denison Park to be recorded. However,
an updated topographical map with the location of all buildings and structures and major plant
materials was completed by Hunt Engineers and Architects during the project. This map along
with a number of site visits to the park provided sufficient information to prepare initial
comments of Denison's significance and integrity.

Both parks were designed and initial construction began during the first decade of the
twentieth-century. Canfield Park was located on Block 66 which had been designated as a public
park when the Corning Company laid out the village in 1835. The park was designed by City
Engineer Robert H. Canfield in 1905. The site of Denison Park, on the east side of the city along
the Chemung River, was originally a swamp. The park was designed by New York City
Landscape Architect Harold A. Caparn in 1906. Both parks remain popular attractions for the
people of Corning. Denison Park is very active and heavily used.



INTRODUCTION

The city of Corning is located in the southeastern section of Steuben County, New York
State (42°10' north latitude, 77°4" west longitude).! This region has been named the great
industrial triangle of the northeastern United States.2 This triangle, whose vertices are formed by
Boston, Chicago and Baltimore, encompasses a good portion of the nation's wealth and
population.? Held within the walls of this triangle are most of the natural resources for fuel and
material as well as the skilled labor, transportation networks and markets necessary for industrial
production and prosperity.* This was an extremely important factor in the growth and
development of Corning as an industrial community. The city of Corning and its immediate
surrounding area make up the largest center of industry and population within the county.’

Figure 0.1: Context Map, Coming, NY (Dimitroff, 343).
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Figure 0.2: Location Map, Coming, NY (USGS, 1953).



Denison Park is located on the eastern edge of the city, next to the Chemung River. The
park is surrounded by East Market Street to the north, Hammond Street to the south, Park
Avenue 1o the west and the Chemung River Levee to the east. Denison Park covers 33 acres.
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Figure 0.3: City of Coming, NY (James W. Moore. February 1979, revised January 1984).



PURPOSE OF REPORT

The purpose of a Historic Landscape Report is to document the historic evolution of a
landscape and its character-defining features. See Appendix A for a list of the features and their
definitions, The historic development of a landscape is typically organized and presented based
on periods of ownership or major events that have occurred in the landscape. An assessment of
the existing conditions is included which provides the bases, when compared to the historic
conditions, to establish the significance and integrity of the landscape. Based on the significance
and integrity, general preservation treatment recommendations are proposed. A Historic
Landscape Report provides guidance to those who are responsible for the management and

maintenance of a historic landscape.



HISTORIC LANDSCAPE REPORT FOR CANFIELD AND DENISON PARK

This report contains two Historic Landscape Reports, one for Canfield Park and the other
for Denison Park. Both reports were composed in a comparatively short time period due to
funding constraints. Thus neither of the reports are fully developed. The time constraint affected
the park reports in two ways. First, historic research was limited to known material and
resources that were accessible. Second, certain sections within each report were not fully

developed.

The Canfield Park report is basically complete. It includes all sections that would be
included in a historic landscape report with the exception that the preservation treatment section
is limited to preliminary recommendations. The historic information available basically
documents the design, construction and early history of the park. Little information is available
regarding the park after Canfield's 1912 Report on Progress on Block 66 Park. Thus there is an
82 year gap in information regarding the park's evolution.

The Denison Park report does not include the existing conditions section nor treatment
recommendations. There is only a preliminary statement of significance and evaluation of
integrity. The historic information available does not include the original design plans for the
park. The first topographic survey of the park available was produced in 1973. Thus
documentation of the early history of the park was based on written accounts and a limited
number of photographs.

A search for the original design plans of Denison Park was made through research on the
Landscape Architect Harold A. Caparn. The plans were not located and only a small amount of
information was uncovered regarding Caparn. Several sources were pursued. Charles Birnbaum
of the National Park Service, Preservation Assistance Division, Wash., D.C., was contacted on
June 6, 1994, He had a limited amount of information on Caparn in the Pioneers of Landscape
Architecture File. Research at Syracuse University's Bird Library produced only Caparn's
obituary from the New York Times. From both of these sources an attempt was mad to locate
Capam's daughter, Rhys Caparn Steel, in Connecticut. But it was not successful. It is not known
whether she is still alive or whether she has Caparn’s office files. Additionally, the Catalog of



Landscape Records in the United States at Wave Hill, Bronx, NY., was contacted to locate
archives that might have Caparn's drawings. Catha Rambusch of Wave Hill had no information
on Caparn in their computer records. A brief mention of Caparn was found in American
Landscape Architecture: Designers and Places, edited by William H. Tishler in 1989. All of the
information located on Caparn has been copied and is located in Appendix B,
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ORGANIZATION OF THE REPORT

This report is organized into two sections, one presenting the information on Canfield
Park and the other presenting the information on Denison Park. Due to the variety of available
information for each park, the organization of the two chapters is some what different. Each
chapter is set up as follows:

Chapter 1: Canfield Park

Historic Overview

Period 1: 1907-1912

Period 2: Existing Conditions 1994

Statement of Significance

Assessment of Integrity

Preservation Treatment: Preliminary Recommendations

Chapter 2: Denison Park

Historic Overview

Period 1: 1907-1910

Period 2: 1911-1945

Period 3: 1947-1972

Period 4: 1973

Preliminary Statement of Significance and Assessment of Integrity

At the end of the report extensive appendices include such items as a List of Landscape
Features—Appendix A, Harold A. Caparn's Obituary—Appendix B, a Description of Steuben
County Court House—Appendix C, and a List of Canfield Park Commissioners and Committee
Members—Appendix D.
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CHAPTER 1

CANFIELD PARK

The public square where Canfield Park is sited was part of the mid 1830's plan of
Corning. The Coming Company reserved Block 66 for the residents of Corning to enjoy, as well
as for public use as a site for government and church buildings.?® One of the reasons behind the
planning of Block 66 as a site for public use was the topography. It was fairly steep and uneven
making it less desirable for residential sale. By the 1850's, Block 66 had begun to take form as a
public space with the erection of a Baptist Church on lot 1, a Methodist Church on lots 3 and 4, a
Presbyterian Church on lot 8, a small schoolhouse on lot 16 and a larger schoolhouse on lots 4
and 83!

In November of 1853, Corning was selected for the second seat of the Southern Jury
District of Stueben County.32 Ground was broken for the first court house on May 19, 1854, and
the corner-stone was laid by Davis and Stafford (brick and stone work) on July 20, 1854.33 It
was built on lot 2 and the western 20 feet of lot 3. The jail was built on lot 9. Both were
completed in 1856-57.34 On April 24, 1862, the schoolhouse on lot 16 was bought by the Afro-
American Community of Corning and converted into a Zion Church.35 The Presbyterian Church
on lot 8 was purchased by the Free Baptist Society of Gibson in December of 1866.36 The
church was in use by the Free Baptists until 1883, followed by the Salvation Army for only a few
weeks.37

During a heavy snowfall on January 25, 1877, the roof of the Zion Church (lot 16)
collapsed and destroyed the building beyond repair.3® The Old Presbyterian Church (lot 8), burnt
to the ground on March 2, 1889.3% In the Spring of the same year, the Episcopal Society
requested permission to construct a church on the northeastern corner of Block 66 (lot 8), and it
was granted.4® Soon there after the Village Board of Trustees reclined, based on an 1840 state
statute that defined the uses a village could make of its real estate and churches were not
included.4! In spite of the Trustees' action, the church instructed the contractors to begin
building the foundation anyway. Supreme Court Judge Adams stopped construction on June 13,
1889.42
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By 1894, the original county court house was in need of extensive repairs so thought was
given to the construction of a new court house instead.4#* On December 19, 1902, the Board of
Supervisors voted to build a new court house at a cost of $25,000.44 In 1903, a leading architect
of Rochester, New York, J. Foster Warner, was retained to design the new court house.#3 In the
spring, Robert H. Canfield, the future designer of Court House Park, was appointed City
Engineer after the resignation of Robert O. Hayt.#6 On June 2, 1903, Drake and Company was
awarded the contract to build the new court house on lots 6, 7 and 8.47

After the completion of the county court house, the Common Council decided to
improve public square. On January 7, 1905, the council passed a resolution authorizing City
Engineer Canfield to prepare drawings and estimates for the conversion of the public square into
a park. Having previous knowledge and interest in the plan to create a park, Canfield already
had a drawing finished and it was said to be very well liked by those that had been allowed to see
it. The design focused on three important criteria, beauty of design, economy of cost and
practicality.48

The City Engincer’s plans provide for the permanent improvement of the balance of the square.
The design provides for a main entrance of cement steps, broad and wide, facing First Street about
opposite the J. B. Maliby driveway. There is a cement landing and then another broad, casy flight
leads to the grand plaza, 125 feet in width with a beautiful bandstand in its center. From the plaza
to the right is another entrance from Walnut Street. The approach to the plaza on this comer will
be broken by beautiful terraces, this plan utilizing the highest part of the square withcut much cost
for grading. It is proposed to line the enwrances and border the plaza with arc lights making it
doubly attractive at night.

From the grand plaza to the soulh west runs a winding path leading to the comer of Walnut and
Second Streets. To the south runs a gravel walk 10 a 64 foot plaza where a handsome fountain
graces the center. Extending almost due east is a pergola leading to another 64 foot plaza which
sets off a beautifully designed flower bed. From this plaza runs a winding walk in a diagonal
direction toward the corner of Second and Pine Streels.

It is planned to set a clump of Lombardy poplars in back of the Courthouse. This would provide a
pleasing perspective. The whole plan provides for winding walks, all of which connect, making
passage across the park rapid and easy. Each of the walks are to be lined with shade trees and park
benches. The plot allows three large ggmss plots and also provides a path running from the
courthouse entrance to the grand plaza.4
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Excavation (hauled away)

15,000 yards ... cereee $4,500.00
Grading, Sodding and Sem:lmg
3 ALTCE ciiomsirsisivemsnissnisodon 1,500.00

Gravel Walks and Plazas
20,750 square feet ................530.00

Tilling and Drains
5,000 feet .....cceoerneeneenrnnens 400.00
Cement Steps
180 cubic yards .................1,080.00
Cement Walks
8,000 square feet .........coeuee. 800.00
Trees, Largc
....................................... 400.00
Shruhs
QOO ciissiccssiississisiiviiimweisione 200.00
Witer PiPes.ciiiiiinsiiviiusiviviia 175.00
G PIDes .cocciinnnimanii 100.00
Fountain Basin ........cccccveeerinencrnee. 250.00
Band SIABA ......ovioiiimssisisniensrsiss 400.00
PRIl o vsiiasimiasmusisiababiasme alisnn 300.00
Park Benches
50 eeerrsrnsrssnssrrsnsasssesenenssranens 250.00
Total
$11,185.00
Contingencies 10% ......ccoeeevvecnnne 1,118.50
Grand Total ................. $l2 303.50

Figure #1.1: R. H. Canfield's Cost Estimate of February 1905, to the Mayor, Park Commissioners and
Common Council. 50

Canfield's original estimates ranged from $10-15,000 for the implementation of his park
plans on Block 66.51 Because the city was bonded to the capacity of the law, bonding to pay for
the park construction was not possible.2 In January 1905, Mayor Retigg appointed a park
committee of prominent men of the community to solicit subscriptions in order to raise the funds
necessary for the parks construction. Originally, Mayor Retigg figured that an appointment of 20
people to the committee would be sufficient.33 However, in February, he invited nearly the
entire clergy of the city to join in the fund raising crusade, and increased the commitiee to nearly
60 members.4 Clergy, businessmen, manufacturers, doctors and other men of influence set out
to raise the estimated $12,000 needed.>® On the 15 of February, Mayor Retigg, Canfield and
City Clerk Fedder started the subscriptions rolling by donating $100, $75 and $25 respectively,

15



to the park fund.3® In 1906, construction began with grading and sodding, followed by the
installation of the walks, trees and shrubs.’? The work and installation of the key design
elements moved along very slowly displeasing the residents of Corning.3® In 1907, Canfield
drew a new, revised plan for the park that modified and deleted some of the elements. The 1907
Plan was implemented, although it is unclear whether the bandstand was constructed.

Canfield made reports to the commission regarding the progress on Block 66. It is not
known how often or how many of these reports he made. Canfield reported there to have been
an all out effort by the summer of 1907, with a large crew working to carry out the plans he
describes.?

There is 1o be a large circle 140 feet in diameter a litde o the northwest of the center of the ploL

When completed, in the center of this circle will stand the bandstand. Around its outer edge will

pass sellees being ranged on either side. Within the outer circle will be a grass plot and then

another double row of rees. Leading from the top of the court house steps and from the junction

of First and Walnut Streets, long winding walks bordered with trees will lead through the circle
and on to the diagonal comers of the plot.

Southeast of the large circle will be two smaller circles about 200 feet apart connected by a
pathway over which the cresis of the trees on both sides will touch. In the midst of one of these
circles will play a fountain. The other will probably be utilized temporarily for flower beds. The
circles will be about 60 feet in diameter.

Carolina poplars and elms will be planted aliernately all about the park. The poplars give a fine
shade, and are noted for their rapid growth. They will provide shade until such time as the elms
have become of sufficient size o allow the poplars o be done away with. 60

By July 9, 1907, $3,600 had been spent on the park's construction. According to
Canfield's reports, $1,600 had been spent in 1906 for the work completed and $2,000 by the
close of the season in 1907 for seeding, sodding, tree settings and the laying of the gravel paths.
The sections of the park that are terraced were sodded and the remainder was sown with seed.
The park was expected to be near completion, except for the bandstand and fountain, by the time
the winter snow began.®! Superintendent Canfield claimed that in the coming year the park
would have seating, the fountain added, flower beds planted and the bandstand erected.52

A popular public play ground will be found in the heart of the city. The park will add much to the

appearance of the locality which it will adorn. While for a number of years yet it can not be used

10 any great extent on a hot day it will still be found a very comfortable place for spending the
carly evenings.63
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Figure 1.3: Canfield Park Plan, 1905 (Leader, February 7, 1905).



In spite of Canfield's optimistic 1907 report, it was not until 1909 that the park was
nearing completion. During the week of April 26, 1909, 50 new benches were ordered to be
placed along the paths.®* The large plaza that was designed for the bandstand was still
incomplete, there were no shade trees, only shrubs and flower gardens.55 The circle was laid out
with plants and flower beds since the bandstand had not been built yet, further upsetting the
citizens over the "raw deal” that the park had become.5¢ The citizens were upset over the length
of time it was taking to build the park and the fact that all that was promised was not being
delivered. On June 25, 1909, now Superintendent of Public Works Canfield, ordered 50 more
benches for Court House Park and they were to be placed immediately upon receipt.6’ By the
end of September in 1909, the 25 foot diameter, cement fountain that Superintendent Canfield
designed was finally installed.5® During the spring of 1910, approximately ten evergreens were
planted in the park and then several hundred tulip bulbs were planted in the fall.®® The entire cost
of the park, when fully completed, was under the original estimate.”

The park in Block 66 has been greatly admired and enjoyed by multitudes of people during the

summer and it has been found that so many people use the cross paths in the winter that it was
thought best 1o keep pan of the electric lights buming throughout the year.1

Canfield's Report to the Park Commissioners in January of 1912 stated that the park has
been well maintained.”? He also added that due to young vandalizers, the public drinking
fountains in the park would no longer be available.”

In the years since Canfield's 1912 report, a number of proposals have threatened the park.
In the winter of 1920, the Common Council refused the use of Court House Park as a
construction site for the new Free Academy Building.” On October 2, 1944, Court House Park,
which residents popularly referred to it because of its location, was officially renamed Canfield
Park, in honor of its designer.”> Mayor Keenan in 1958 proposed building a modern city hall
and suggested that Canfield Park should be the site for it, but the community was not in
agreement with him.76¢ In 1990, the Parks and Recreation Department made some plans and
began a revitalization project for Canfield Park.77



PERIOD 1

CANFIELD PARK
1907-1912

Plans pertaining to Period 1, Canfield Park:
Topographical Layout of Proposed Design for Court House, by unknown, date unknown.
Steuben County Court House, by J. Foster Warmner, 1903.
Ciry Park, Block 66, by R. H. Canfield, 1907.

Topography

The topography of Block 66 was fairly steep and uneven. The land sloped from the
southwestern section of the block with a high of 1005.0" above sea level. However, the comner
was not the highest point due to a 5 foot drop in elevation in the southern corner. The contours
began to arch from the center of Second Street, and then exited on Walnut street. This caused a
fairly even southwest to northeast slope along with a corresponding but steeper grade from the
southwest to the northwest. The lowest point is the northeastern corner of First Street and Pine
Street with an elevation of 945.0" above sea level. The northwestern corner only drops to 960.0
feet, leaving an even rise in grade from the corner of Pine and First Streets to the corner of
Walnut and First Streets. Canfield designed the northern slopes with terraces, creating space for
areas of a mild grade to make pathways possible.

Vegetation

Canfield designed the park with a variety of shrubbery, flower beds and shade trees. He
used several species in order to create mixed massings of shrubs boardering the terminuses of the
pathways. Between the court house and the diagonal pathway, leading to the hydrangea bedded
plaza, was an arched row of trees that followed the perimeter of the building and retaining wall.
The variety of the trees was not specified on the plan but was identified in a report as being
Lombardy Poplars (this was verified in a photograph owned by Peetie Dimitroff). Between the
rows of trees and the diagonal path was a double row of Persian Lilacs extending approximately
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58 feet along the northeastern boarder of the walk. Shade trees were lining the inside boarders of
the pathways connecting the plazas, along with a few others that lined the entrance paths from
the southern and western entrances, The bandstand plaza was to contain an inner and outer
broken ring of an unspecified species. The entry staircase was boardered with shrubbery of an
unknown species.

Many individual plants are marked on the plan and a full plant schedule for the
documented vegetation on the 1907 Plan can be found in the following list and corresponding
plan. The 1907 Plant List was copied from the 1907 Plan by R. H. Canfield. The corresponding

list was made by looking up the 1907 name in the Manual of Woody Landscape Plants, by

Michael A, Dirr and translating them into current terms of identification, when possible.
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1907 COURT HOUSE PARK PLANTING SCHEDULE

1907 Plant List

Current Plant List for 1907(Michael A, Dirr)

1 Calycanthus
2 Colutea

Caragaua

Arborercius
3 Berberry sebuldi
Berberry vulgaris
4 Cormnus
Cornus
5 Comus variegated
6 Forsythia
Seiboldi

Fortunei

7 Clethra
Elaeagnus

8 Honeysuckle wh, yar,
Honeysuckle red
Purple Fringe
Sumac staghorn
Sumac cut leave

White Fringe

Calycanthus floridus (Common Sweetshrub)

Colutea arboresceris sp. (Common Bladder-
senna)

Caragaua arboresceus sp. (Siberian
Peashrub)

(unknown)

Berberis sp.

Berberis vulgaris (Common Barberry)
Cornus sp.

Cornus sp.

Cornus sp.

Forsythia suspensa "Sieboldii' (Weeping
Forsythia)

Forsythia fortunei

Clethra sp.

Elaeagnus sp.

Lonicera sp.

Lonicera tatarica (Tatarian Honeysuckle)
Chionanthus sp.

Rhustyphina (Staghorn Sumac)
Rhustyphina ‘Dissecta’ or ‘Laciniata’

Chionanthus virginicus (White Fringe tree)



) 1907 Plant Li . Plant List for 1907(Michael A. Dirr

9 Lugustrum regelianum (?)
10 Comus shaethii (7) Cornus alba 'Spaethii' (Tatarian Dogwood)
11 Cut leaved birch Betula pendula 'Dalecarlica’ sp. or 'Laciniata’
(European white birch)
12 Mountain Ash (Oak leaves?) Sorbus sp.
13 Spirea Spiraea sp.
14 Weirs Maple Acer saccharinum "Wieri'
15 Red Oak Quercus rubra
16 Shirea reveesi Spiraea cantonieusis 'Canceata’ (Double
Reeves Spirea)
17 Mulberry russian Morus alba 'Fatarica'
18 Shirea Van Hirite Spiraea x vanhouttei
19 Shirea golden ? Spiraea sp.
20 Norway Maple Acer platanoides
21 Syringna Syringa sp.
22 Shirea bilburaii Spiraea x billiardii ( Billard Spirea)
23 Lilac Syringa sp.
Lilac mariede grust (7) Syringa sp.
Lilac Syringa sp.
Lilac jusikea (7) Syringa sp.
24 Rosa wichubana Wichuraiana (Memorial Rose of Sunshine)
25 Shirea Spiraea sp.
26 Willow Salix sp.
27 Maple weirs Acer saccharinum "Wieri'



(con't) 1907 Plant List

Current Plant List for 1907(Michael A. Dirr)

28Shirea douglasii
29 Viburnum snowball

Viburnum dentatum
Syringna grandifloria (?)
Syringna coronarius (?)

30 Persian Lilac

31 European Linden

32 Flowering Almond

33 Shirea aurea (7)

34 Ribes alplnum

35 Shirea brunaldi

36 Red Oak

37 Rosa rugosa red(?)

38 Hydranga

39 Symphoricarpos vulgaris (7)

40 Virburnum opurus

41 Japan Quince
Privet
42 Rosa rugosa white(?)
43 Magnolia
44 Beech

Spiraea sp.

macrocephalum (Chinese Snowball
Yiburnum)

Armmowwood Viburnum

Syringa sp.

Syringa sp.

Syringa x persica

Tilia x europaea (also T. vulgaris)
Prunus triloba

Spiraea sp.

alpinum (Alpine current)

Spirea x bumalda (Bumalda Spirea
"Anthony Waterer")

Quercus rubra

Hydgrangea sp.
(Common Snowberry)

Opulus (European Cranberry bush
Yiburnum)

Chaenomeles japonica

Ligustrum sp.

Magnolia sp.
Fagus sp.
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(con't.) 1907 Plant List

Current Plant List for 1907(Michael A, Dirr)

45 Sarabucus (Cut leaved)
Elaeagus angustifolia
Exoreorda

46 Honeysuckle
Triboldi
Prunus

32

Sambucus sp. (Elder)

Elaeagnus angustifolia (Russian-olive)
Exochorda racemosa (Common Pearl Bush)
Lonicera sp.

@)

Prunus triloba (Flowering Almond)



Spatial Organization

The park, in general, was composed of four main elements or focal points. The major
element was the court house itself, which created the northeastern boarder of the park. The
bandstand plaza commanded the most attention within the park area. Being placed on the
highest terrace, the views and vistas from this plaza that is 140 feer in diameter, were astounding
during the cooler months. Views of the city and river were framed by the overhanging tree
canopies in the summer months. This plaza created a central hub on the westemn half of the site
from which one could pass to the twin plazas or to the court house.

The twin plazas (both 60 feet in diameter) ran parallel to second street, which created the
southern central and eastern focal points as well as the boundaries to the site. The eastern
hydrangea plaza was the directional hub to the eastern and southeastern entrances. From the
hydrangea bed plaza, one could pass through the park as a shortcut to the northwestern most
entrance, or follow the path to the fountain plaza. The fountain plaza acted as the central hub
from the center of Second Street to access the park.

The three plazas were to be bedded with gravel. The open lawn spaces provided views of
the main elements and the pathways, being lined with shrubbery, created frames for the views.

Circulation

Surrounding the park was a 4 foot perimeter sidewalk. There were entrances to the park
from all of the corners except the northeastern corner where the court house is sited. The
entrance 1o the park from the northeast was via the staircase off of First Street. Entrances were
located at the center point of the east, south and western boarders that lead to three plazas. From
the corners ran semi-serpentine, diagonal pathways to the opposite corners. The three plazas
were interconnected via short linear paths. The 8 foot wide pathways within the park were
gravel with large (2-4" diameter) stones on the uphill edge acting as run-off gutters. Running
along the west wall of the Court House was a 4 foot wide cement sidewalk that connected the
entry staircase with the western rear entry to the Court House. The perimeter sidewalks were
made of concrete. All other dimensions, materials specifications and characteristics are
unknown.
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Figure 1.7: Canfield Park, facing east from northwest comer of path (Dimitroff Collection).
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Buildings and Structures
Courthouse

The Steuben County Court House was the only building on the property at the time
construction began on the park. Several structures in and around the park and court house also
existed. The neo-classical court house was rectangular with a small extension on its southern
side, creating a truncated T-plan. The front of the building was a total of 84 feet in width. The
entrance arca was 48 feet in width and dropped back to the south on both ends by 3 feet. Both
sides then extended an additional 18 feet to the east and the west. The sides of the court house
went south for 59 feet and then nitched in on both sides by 13 1/2 feet. From that point, both
sides traveled south for an additional 22 feet. The back of the building extended from the east
and west walls, inward by 25 feet. The sides then moved south 3 feet and then made a right
angle connecting with one another. This section was 8 feet in length.”® A full description of the
court house, as noted in the November 10, 1988, Building-Structure Inventory Form, can be
found in Appendix C.

Figure 1.8: Canfield Park, count house, facing southwest (Dimitroff Collection).
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Court House Entry Staircase

The entry staircase rose from the sidewalk on First Street in three ranks up to the count
house doorway. The first rank included 27 concrete steps with 1 1/2 foot treads, At the base
were two 3 foot by 3 foot cement boarder blocks with pyramidal tops. Their height is unknown.
The second rank was the 12 foot deep by 17 foot wide concrete landing. The third rank was
comprised of five stone steps with 1 foot treads and a 6 foot deep by 12 foot wide landing which
narrows to 10 feet wide about 3 feet back from the front of the landing. There was also an
additional stone step with a 1 foot tread that meets with a stone sill. The third rank was
boardered with stone walls that were 2 1/2 feet wide and 9 feet deep. The height of the walls are
unknown. The riser heights of the steps are unknown. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Steps (West Wall)

Located to the south of the west wall of the court house were two eastern rising cement
steps with 1 foot treads and a width of 5 1/2 feet. They met with a stone sill that was 1 1/2 feet in
depth and 3 1/2 feet in width. The riser heights are unknown. These steps provided access to the
western rear entry of the court house. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown.

Iron Stairs

There was an iron set of stairs located on the southern side of the eastern wall of the court
house. There were an unknown amount of steps with treads of 8 inches. The western rising stair
way was 4 feet in width. The height of the risers and character of the staircase is not known.
These steps provided access to the eastern rear entry of the court house. All other dimensions,
materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Steps (Eastern Access)

Located at the base of the serpentine cement walk, to the south of the eastern side of the
court house, were seven cement steps with approximately 1 foot treads. These steps provided
access from the sidewalk to the cement walk that lead to the eastern rear entry of the court house.
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The stair way was semi-curved and was 4 feet in width. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Bandstand

According to Canfield's 1907 Plan there was to be a 20 foot diameter bandstand located
in the center of the large western plaza. The actual construction of such a structure was never
documented.” All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Site Engineering Systems
Guners

Along both the east and west sides of the entry staircase were 1 1/2 foot wide concrete
gutters. They extended from the base of the upper set of stairs, after the landing, all the way to
the base of the staircase. The gutters were installed in 1903 when the staircase was constructed.
To the west of the west walk was a 1 1/2 foot wide concrete gutter that was approximately 73
feetin length, All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,

Retaining Wall

To the west of the court house was a 2 foot wide retaining wall that ran from the center of
the western rear wall, out to the walk that came from the steps running parallel with First Street,
to the bandstand circle. From the eastern corner of the court house a 1 1/2 foot serpentine
retaining wall ran out to Pine Street. The material of the two walls was concrete, The height and
character of the two walls is unknown. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown,
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Furnishings and Objects

The 1907 Plan does not locate any furnishings or objects, although it is known from
newspaper clippings that benches lined the pathways and drinking fountains were available. The
benches have been verified through photographic documentation and they appear to be iron or
steel framed with two wooden slats for a back and the seat. The legs curved inward from the seat
and then back out to be in line with the end of the seat's base. The drinking fountains were
removed not to long after they were installed and there is no documentation as to what they were
made of or looked like or when exactly they were removed. There were also two black,
cylindrical lamp posts, one on each of the tops of the boardering walls of the upper set of stairs to
the Court House. The posts were topped with large round, white glass globes. Other

dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are undocumented.

i 2
el
!

Figure 1.9: Canfield Park, Fountain Plaza, facing northwest (Dimitroff Collection).
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Water Features

The only water feature within the park was a 25 foot diameter concrete fountain, It was
located within the southern, central plaza. The fountain was surrounded with six pilasters that
broke up the seating rim on the outer edge. The pilasters were to suppor large terra-cotta flower
vases that were a donation from M. E. Gregory, the proprietor of Corning Brick Terra-Cotta and
Tile Company.®0 In the center of the fountain was a huge, conical stacked pile of sandstone
boulders.B! There was a spray from the top that showered over the mound along with a light to
illuminate the fountain in the evening hours.$2 The sandstone was originally intended to be
covered with moss but whether or not this was done is unknown.!3 All other dimensions,

materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,

Figure 1.10: Canficld Park, fountain, facing southwest (Dimitroff Collection).
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PERIOD 2

CANFIELD PARK
EXISTING CONDITIONS
1994

Plans pertaining to Period 2, Canfield Park:
Site Survey of Canfield Park, by Hunt Engineers and Architects, 1994,
Topography

The topographical form of Canfield Park has not changed significantly since the park's
construction (1907-1912). The park's highest point is 200 feet above sea level and is located 90
feet to the east of the southwestern corner of the park along the setback. The lowest point is 130
feet above sea level and is located in the far northeastern corner of the block.

From the high point the ground slopes in a shallow arch toward the area that was the
bandstand plaza with the extremities of the arch sloping 1o the northwest and northeast. The
approximate slope in this area is 12%. The area that was the bandstand plaza is 140 feet in
diameter and slopes toward the north at an approximate grade of 6%. The western area of the
park, from the center of the north side of the plaza to the northwest corner of the block, the land
all slopes northwest with an average grade of 26%. The northern area of the park, from the
northern point of the bandstand plaza to the northwestern corner of the block, and from the same
northern point down the trail to the west side of the court house steps the land all slopes north to
northwest with an average grade of 33%.

The remaining eastern area of the park, east of the bandstand plaza and fountain plaza,
slopes in the northeastern direction. The area southwest of the trail that cuts almost diagonally
from the southeastern corner of the block toward the northwest has an average grade of 20%.
The area closest to the west side of the court house to the northeast of the trail has an average
northeastern slope of 43%. The area south of the court house and northeast of the court house
has an average northeastern slope of 25%.
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The two playground areas are fit within the contours in order to have gentle slopes on an
average of 6%. The twin plazas, the fountain plaza and the hydrangea plaza, have gentler slopes
than the other areas of the park. The area that the fountain once stood on has a grade of 5%. The
old hydrangea plaza area has a grade of 7.5%.

The trails of the park create small flat terraces in the general topography. Along the
northern boarder is a terrace that interrupts the steep grade of this section of the park.®

Vegetation

The existing vegetation is recorded on the following pages and is keyed to the map that
also follows. Plant names were derived from two books, including Manual of Woody Landscape
Plants, by Michael A. Dirr, and Wyman's Gardening Encyclopedia, by Donald Wyman. The
numbering system records the locations of the specimens and does not refer to quantity. The
plant list is set up to correspond to the numbering system and thus they are not in alphabetical or
type order. The list reads from left to right and starts with the location number. Thelist then
gives the scientific name, common name, number of specimens (if it was recorded as more than
one), the number of major stems (if applicable) and the approximate diameter (in inches),
measured at breast height. Shrubbery was not measured except for a few very old specimens.
The condition of the individual plant materials was not recorded do to time constraints.

A site visit was made on August 16, 1994, to measure and identify all of the major plant
materials within the park. The survey did not include the street trees or the many saplings. The
1994 Site Survey by Hunt Engineers and Architects (that was utilized for the plant materials
survey) does not locate individual shrubs but rather expresses the locations in massings.
Therefore, the exact locations of the individual shrubs were not recorded but an attempt was
made to count them when it was deemed important. Although the numbers were not all recorded
it should be noted that most of the shrub massings did include several of the same species.

On a follow up visit, on September 8, 1994, it was noticed that historic plant material in
location numbers 10, 32, 55, 72, 85 and 88 had either been severely pruned or completely cut to
the ground.
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PLANT LIST

Scientific Name Common Name Dia.
1 Acer negundo Boxelder un
Berberis Barberry un
Rosa Roses un
Acer platanoides Norway Maple un
Philadelphus coronarius Sweet Mockorange un
2 Fraxinus americana White Ash (double trunk at 12"
48 inches)
3 Acer saccharinum Silver Maple 12"
4 Taxus Yew un
5 Acer platenoides Norway Maple 12"
6 Fraxinus americana White Ash 8"
7 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 15
8 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 10"
9 Colutea arborescens Common Bladder-senna (6) un
Lugustrum Privet un
Lonicera Honersuckle un
Rosa Roses un
10 Celastrus scandens American Bitter sweet un
Tilia Lindens . un
Ligustrum Privet un
Rosa wichuraiana Memorial or Sunshine rose un
Lonicera Honeysuckle un
11 Lonicera Honeysuckle un
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Common Name

Scientific N
12 Acer platenoides
13 Tilia americana
14 Forsythia
Acer platanoides
Lonicera
Fraxinus
Ligustrum
15 Acer platanoides
16 Broussonetia
17 Acer platenoides
18 Acer platenoides
19 Acer platenoides
20 Acer platenoides
21 Ulmus americana
22 Acer platanoides
23 Picea pungens Glauca
24 Pinus thunbergii
25 Acer platanoides
26 Sorbus
27 Acer platanoides
Ulmus
Viburnum lantana
Platanus x acerifolia

Norway Maple
American Linden
Forsythia

Norway Maple (saplings)
Honeysuckle

Ash

Privet

Norway Maple

Mulberry

Norway Maple

Norway Maple

MNorway Maple

Norway Maple

American Elm

Norway Maple

Blue Spruce

Japanese Black Pine
Norway Maple
Mountainash

Norway Maple (saplings)
Elm (saplings)
Wayfaringtree Viburnum
London Planetree

15"
27"
un
un
un

un

g
2"
23"
19"
12"
19"
14"
12"
15"
-
g

4"

un

un



Scientific N

Ligustrum
Acer platanoides
28 Sorbus
29 Acer rubrum
30 Ulmus
Acer platanoides
Ligustrum
Barberis
Rosa
Euonymus
31 Acer platanoides
Ulmus
Fraxinus
Rosa
Ligustrum
Vitus
Barberis
32 Lugustrum
Barberis
Acer platanoides
Ulmus
Deutzia gracilis
Acer negundo

Commeon Name Dia,
Privets (31) un
Norway Maple £
Mountainash (2 stem) 13"
Red Maple (7 stems) 3-6"
Elm (3 stem) un
Norway Maple un
Privet un
Barberry un
Rose un
Euonymus un
Norway Maple (3) un
Elms (2) un
Ash un
Rose un
Privet un
Grapes un
Barberry un
Privet un
Barberry un
Norway Maple (3) un
Elms (10) un
Slender Deutzia (20) un
Boxelder (2) un
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Scientific N

33

35
36
37
38
39

41
42

43

45

52

Common Name

Ulmus glabra
Ulmus americana
Tilia

Rosa

Viws

Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Acer platanoides
Ulmus

Acer platanoides

Syringa x chinensis

Fraxinus
Acer platanoides

Fraxinus

Dia,

Scotch Elm (8)
American Elm (2)
Lindens

Rose

Grapes
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Morway Maple
Norway Maple
MNorway Maple
Elm

Norway Maple (4 stem)

Chinese Lilac
Ash

Norway Maple
Ash (3)

un
ﬁ.g L1

un

1"
7"
3-7"
5"
6"
5
4"
5
5
7"
3
6"
11"
2-6"
un
6"
4"
4"



Scientific N

Common Name

47 Spirea x vanhouttei

48 Ulmus

49 Fraxinus

50 Cornus mass

51 Cornus mass
Tilia americana
Ligustrum
Lonicera

52 Salix melanostachys

53 Acer platanoides

54 Acer platanoides

55 Lonicera

56 Thuja

57 Aesculus

58 Acer platanoides

59 Ulmus

60 Acer platanoides

61 Acer platanoides

62 Acer platanoides

63 Acer platanoides

64 Acer platanoides

65 Ligustrum

Spirea x vanhouttei

Vanhoutte Spirea
Elm
Ash

Cornellian Cherry
Cornellian Cherry (7)

Basswood (also American Linden)

Privet
Honeysuckle (3)

g

Black Willow (3 stems at 60 inches) 54"

MNorway Maple
Norway Maple
Honeysuckle (9)
Arborvitae (2 stem)
Horsechestnut (2 stem)
Norway Maple (5 stem)
Elm (6 stem)

Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple
Norway Maple

Privet (4)

Vanhoutte Spirea (2)

12"
13"
<8"
un
34"
2-4"
3-6"
14"
11"
10"
11"
13-14"
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Scientific Name

Barberis
66 Acer platanoides
67 Picea
68 Acer saccharinum 'wieri'
69 Acer platanoides
70 Picea abies
71 Broussonetia
72 Syringa
Prunus
73 Acer platanoides
74 Acer platanoides
75 Acer platanoides
76 Acer platanoides
77 Acer platanoides
78 Acer platanoides
79 Syringa
Lonicera
80 Aesculus hippocastanum
Rosa
Ligustrum
81 Syringa
Lonicera
82 Syringa

Common Name Dia,
Barberry un
Norway Maple (2 stem) 23"
Spruce (2 stem) 14"
Wier Maple 36"
Norway Maple 12"
Norway Spruce 34"
Mulberry 37"
Lilac (7) un
Cherry un
Norway Maple 12"
Norway Maple 8"
Norway Maple 60"
Norway Maple 43"
Norway Maple 4"
Norway Maple 11"
Lilac un
Honeysuckle un
Common Horsechestnut 20"
Roses un
Privet un
Lilac (2) un
Honeysuckle un
Lilac (5) un



Scientific N

Ligustrum
Rhamnus
83 Acer saccharinum 'wieri'
84 Viburnum dentatum
85 Ligustrum
Rosa
Syringa
Physocarpus
86 Prunus serotina
87 Syringa
88 Lonicera
Symphoricarpus albus
Philadelphus coronarius
Viburnum dentatum
89 Picea abies
90 Barberis
91 Picea pungens Glauca
92 Acer platanoides
Lonicera
Ligustrum
Barberis
93 Acer platanoides
94 Prunus

Common Name Dia,
Priver (2) un
Buckthorn un
Wier Maple (2 stem) 237
Armowwood Viburnum (2) un
Privet un
Rose un
Lilac (3) un
Ninebark un
Black Cherry 21"
Lilac un
Honersuckle un
Snowberry un
Sweet Mockorange (8) un
Arrowwood Viburnum (8) un
Norway Spruce 18"
Barberry un
Blue Spruce 15"
Norway Maple 29"
Honeysuckle un
Privet un
Barberry un
Norway Maple 16"
Cherry (2 stemn) 7-10"
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Scientific Name Common Name Dia,
Lonicera Honeysuckle un
95 Platinus x acerifolia London Planetree 17"
Euonymus fortunei Wintercreeper Euonymus un
96 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 24"
Lugustrum Privet (2) un
97 Calastrus scandens American Bitter sweet un
Ligustrum Privet (4) un
Lonicera Honeysuckle (3) un
Euonymus Euonymus un
98 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 4"
99 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 33"
100 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 21"
101 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 22"
102 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 8"
Lonicera Honeysuckle un
103 Robinia pseudoacacia Black Locust 10"
104 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 15"
105 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 12"
106 un Unidentified Shrub un
107 Taxus Yew (3) 3" wide
108 Fraxinus Ash 9"
109 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 9"
110 Acer platanoides Norway Maple 11"
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Scientific N

111 Betula papyrifera
112 Ulmus

113 Quercus rubra
114 Paeonia

115 Lonicera

116 Taxus

117 Acer platanoides
118 Acer platanoides
119 Acer platanoides
120 Acer platanoides
121 Acer platanoides
122 Acer platanoides
123 Acer platanoides
124 Acer rubrum

125 Taxus

126 Prunus sorotina

127 Celtis occidentalis

128 Aesculus hippocastanum
129 Ginkgo
130 Prunus triloba
Lonicera
131 Malus

Common Name Dia
White Birch 9"
Elm 14"
Red Oak 26"
Peoni un
Honeysuckle un
Yew (3) 3' wide
Norway Maple 11"
Norway Maple 8"
Norway Maple 12"
Norway Maple 8"
Norway Maple 11"
Norway Maple 9"
Norway Maple 10"
Red Maple 16"
Yew (5) 4' wide
Black Cherry 28"
Common Hackberry (2 22"
stems at 72 inches)

Common Horsechestnut 27"
Ginkgo 15"
Flowering Almond un
Honeysuckle un
Flowering Crabapple (7 stem) 6"
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Scientific N

132 Acer platanoides
133 Ligustrum

134 Picea abies

135 Acer platanoides
136 Acer platanoides
137 Acer platanoides

un : stands for unknown
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Common Name Dia.
Norway Maple 7 7 g
Privet (12, cut trunks) un
Norway Spruce 21"
Norway Maple 21"
Norway Maple 17"
Norway Maple 12"



Spatial Organization

Canfield Park's existing spatial organization is different, in many aspects, from the
original organization. Although the plazas no longer exist as hard edged, distinct spaces, they are
still noticeable. The same is true for the pathways. They are no longer paved with gravel and
boardered on the south side with large diameter stones but are well worn, distinct routes or linear
spaces. Most of the paths are boardered by mature vegetation, which creates vertical and
overhead planes. The diagonal pathways that criss-cross the park are fine examples of this. One
can feel a strong sense of enclosure when the vegetation is close and tall, while when it is loose
and open the sense of enclosure is more relaxed.

The park's organization is no longer formal. The edges are soft and spaces are fairly
open. The park's spatial organization is almost divided into two halves by the line of vegetation
that boarders the diagonal pathway that travels from the northwest corner to the southeast corner.
The steep topography of the northeastern half is sparsely dotted with large, mature trees, creating
a vast area of open space. The southwestern half, while remaining fairly open toward the center
of the park, is for the most part shaded or pleasantly enclosed with large shrubs and mature trees.

The play areas and court house are the major focal points of use. The spaces that the
playground covers are west of the site of the old fountain plaza. These two spaces are small and
open and attract the most use for the park, besides walkers utilizing the paths as a shortcut. The
court house is more of a focal point since it is a solid element within the park area. It almost
seems to stand on its own and does not become an interrelated element. Since it is only to be
looked at by those that are visiting the park, the court house has its own purpose. Visitors are
more than likely not there to experience the park.

Circulation

The routes of circulation are divided into three categories. There are hard edged
walkways, soft edged walkways, and vehicular access routes. The hard edged walkways include
the following list of features: 4 1/2 foot wide, concrete sidewalks that boarder the perimeter of
the park; a 10 foot long by 14 1/2 foot wide concrete handicapped access ramp that is 12 foot
wide at the top, which is found to the west of the center of the Second Street boarder; 3, 12 foot
wide concrete steps in front of the court house's entry staircase ( see the Buildings and
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Structures section for more information); the 3 1/2 foot concrete walk that connects the entry
staircase and the steps along the western side of the cournt house; the 4 foot wide concrete walk
that runs parallel with the western wall of the court house; the 4 foot wide by 51 foot long
macadam walk that runs perpendicular to the eastern wall of the court house providing access
from the sidewalk.

The soft edged walkways encompass all of the 8 foot wide pathways within the park.
These walks are either soil, grass or a combination with gravel and stone (gravel and stone in
some areas is original). All of the soft edged walkways are original in width and in orientation.

The vehicular access includes two elements which are both located near the southeastern
comer of the court house. The first is the 25 foot wide by 8 1/2 foot long macadam entrance to
the parking lot from Pine Street. The second is a parking area that is 89 feet long at its longest
point, 61 feet wide at its widest point and has a stepped profile. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.



Buildings and Structures

Court House

The Steuben County Court House has not been seriously altered since it was erected in
1903. Currently, there is a small wooden entry way that was added to the north corner of the
western wall. Otherwise, the building is existing as described in the previous period's Buildings
and Structures section and in Appendix C.

Figure 1.14: Canfield Park, court house, facing southwest (K. Allen, SUNYCESF, 1994),
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Court H E Stai

The entry staircase was altered at an unknown time during the early to mid-twentieth-
century. The staircase exists today with those alterations. The flight of steps was divided at the
tenth step with a 13 foot by 5 foot concrete landing. The second rank of steps continues for an
additional eight steps before meeting with the large original landing. The steps all have 1 1/2
foot treads, 6 inch risers, and are 13 feet wide with a black tubular metal railing dividing the
stairway. The 3 foot by 3 foot boarder blocks were moved and canted north and south so that
they created a terminus for the boarder walls., The pyramid shaped tops were removed. The
concrete boarder walls are 2 1/2 feet in width and run 33 feet from the major landing to the base
of the stairs where they curve outward and continue for 2 feet to meet with the boarder blocks.
The original third rank of the staircase remained unaltered except for the removal of the light
posts from the base of the boarder walls. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown or unrecorded (see fig. 1.14).

Western Entry Steps

Located in the northwest corner of the western wall of the court house is an entry way.
The entry consists of four steps with 1 foot treads and a landing. The steps are 5 feet wide, made
of concrete and rise to the south for 4 feet. The date of its construction is unknown.85 All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Steps (West wall - South)

Along the southern corner of the western wall is a concrete staircase, providing access to
and from the parking area to the front of the court house. The southward rising staircase includes
nine steps with 6 inch risers and 2 foot treads as well as landings on both ends. The stairway's
width is approximately 4 feet and overall length, including landings, is 26 1/2 feet. The lower
landing is 6 1/2 feet long and 5 feet wide while the upper landing is 6 1/2 feet wide at the base, 4
feet wide at the top and has a depth of 3 1/2 feet. The date of construction is unknown. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.



Steel Stairs

The westward running stairway is located on the southern end of the eastern wall of the
court house. The stairway includes two sections, one of which is the concrete base. Itis 15 feet
in length with two steps that are 4 1/2 feet wide with treads that are 1 foot. The other section is
the nine step steel staircase that is 3 1/2 feet wide with approximately 10 1/2 inch treads and has
a length of 11 feet, including a 3 foot landing. The date of its construction is unknown. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Steps (East Parking Access)
Located on the northwest side of the parking lot is a 5 foot wide flight of five steps with 1
foot treads. The northward running stairs are made of concrete and meet a concrete landing that

leads 10 a ramp. The date of the stair's construction is unknown. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Ramp

The ramp is located to the northwest of the parking lot above the flight of steps. The
concrete ramp measures 8 feet in width and 5 1/2 feet in length. The slope of the ramp faces the
south and has a grade of 3%. The date of the ramp's construction is unknown. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Playground Area (North)

The larger of the two playground areas is rectangular and is located approximately 45 feet
to the northwest of the center of the site of the fountain. The area is 25 feet in width by 40 feet in
length. The soil is retained by landscaping timbers to allow the play area to be fairly flat. The
southwestern corner of the top of the wall is 2.1 feet above the play area while the southeastemn
corner is 1.7 feet above the play area The timbers extend to the north on the west and east sides
of the area in steps to match the slope of the surrounding landscape. The play area is covered
with rough wood chips. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown or unrecorded.
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Playground Area (South)

The southern playground area has a trapezoid shape and is located approximately 35 feet
to the east of the southern central entry. The lengths of the area are 26 feet and the ends are 15
feet and 9 feet. The 9 foot end is on the western side. The playground area is boardered with
landscaping timber and covered with rough wood chips.

The area contains a metal framed jungle gym that is in the shape of a wagon. There are
also several rocking horses, with springs, that are located in front of the wagon heading in a
westerly direction. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown or unrecorded.

Site Engineering Systems

Guuers

Located to the east and west side of the court house entry staircase are 1 foot wide
concrete gutters. They extended from the top of the major landing 34 feet down to the base of
the steps where they make a gentle 2 foot arc to their respective directions. The gutters were
installed as part of the entry staircase and constructed in 1903. It is not known exactly when they
were shortened and reduced in width. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Guuter (West Walk)

To the west side of the concrete walk on the west side of the court house lies a 1 1/2 foot
wide concrete gutter that is 73 feet in length. The gutter has a slight curve to the east at its
northern end where it meets a drain grate. From the style, and material it was decided that this
gutter is original to the construction of the park. All other dimensions, materials, specifications
and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Retaining Wall (W

The western concrete retaining wall exists today but it has been modified and possibly
replaced. The wall that stands today is made up of three segments and it measures 14 feet in



length. According to the 1994 Site Survey, the southeastern pointing wall is 3.5 inches high and
gradually becomes 2.8 feet in height. The second segment is 10 feet in length, has 2.45 feet of
exposed wall at its far end and is located in an east, southeast direction. The third segment of the
wall connects with the staircase perpendicularly so that the 14 1/2 foot long section is parallel to
the southern wall of the court house. The final segment terminates with a height of 2.45 feet.
The wall is painted white. It should be noted that existing conditions photographs (taken on
0/8/94) indicate that the wall is higher than indicated on the 1994 site survey. However, field
measurements were not taken. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics

re unknown or unrecorded.

Figure 1.15: Canfield Park, retaining wall, facing southeast (K. Allen. SUNYCESF, 1994).



Reraining Wall (Parkine A

The parking area to the southeast of the court house is supported by a three sided 2 1/2
foot thick retaining wall. At its highest point the wall is 7.76 feet. The rectangular wall system
faces north and is both parallel and perpendicular to the court house and roads. The western
scgment is 18 feet in length. The northern segment is 42 feet in length and the eastern segment is
27 feet in length. The wall system is topped with a heavy railing. The rail measures 18 feet in
length along the western segment, 42 feet along the northern segment and 27 feet along the
eastern segment. The other dimensions and character of the railing were not recorded.®¢ All
other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Figure 1.16: Canfield Park, east retaining wall, facing south (K. Allen. SUNYCESF, 1994).
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Retaining Wall (Timl

Located off of the northeastern corner of the court house is a 9 foot long by 9 foot long, 6
inch to inch high timber retaining wall. The railroad tie wall located on two sides of a planting
bed contains five 4 foot high hews. The railroad ties are deep brown in color and have a rough

texture. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or
unrecorded.
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Mechanical Systems

asins)

There are six catch basins within the block. Two of the six were found to be covered
with historic dome shaped, heavy iron grates. The historic grates are approximately 3 feet in
diameter and a dark brown rust color. One is located approximarely 40 feet to the west of the
northwest corner of the court house. The other is approximately 5 feet north of the northeast
comer of the court house. The grate that catches the water from the concrete gutter on the west
side of the court house is metal and rectangular with holes that are approximately 1 inch in
diameter. It is not known if this grate dates back to the original construction. A third grate is
located 20 feet to the west of the comner of First and Pine Street. Another grate is located 10 feet
to the southeast of the bollards behind the parking area. The exact dimensions of the grates were
not measured in the field and the 1994 Site Survey by Hunt Engineers and Architects exaggerates
the measurements. The final grate is found 192 feet to the west of the corner of First and Pine
Street within the lawn area next to the road. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and

characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Figure 1.17: Canfield Park, historic drain grate, west of court house (K. Allen. SUNYCESF, 1994).

68



Manhole

Located 5 feet to the north of the northwest corner of the court house is a standard sized
manhole with a metal cover. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown or unrecorded.

Furnishings and Objects

Flag Pole

The flag pole is located off of the northeast corner of the court house. The flag pole is
mounted on a 5 1/2 foot by 5 1/2 foot concrete base. The silver colored metal pole narrows
towards its top where it has a metal sphere to cap it. The pole is approximately 30 feet in height.
All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Bollards

There are two identical bollards on the lawn along the southeast comner of the parking
area. There material and dimensions were not recorded. The purpose of the bollards is to protect
the electrical box that is positioned behind it. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Electrical Box
Directly south of the bollards is an electrical utility box that is set on a 5 foot by 5 foot
concrete pad. The box is 1 1/2 feet wide and 4 feet long and approximately 3 1/2 feet in height.

The doors on the box have a mock wood grain finish, while the box is gray. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Cannon Footers

There are two sets of concrete cannon footers located on the northwest and northeast
sides of what was the bandstand plaza. The northwest set is the smaller of the two and they both
are 1 1/2 feet by 1 1/2 feet. Their height was not measured but they are both approximately waist
high. The set to the northeast are both 3 feet long by 2 feet wide at the base and they narrow to



approximately 1 foot square at their top. They are approximately breast high but were not
measured for exact dimensions in the field. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Vault

There is a concrete vault with a door located 35 feet to the east of the northwest corner of
the block. The length is 7 feet and the width is 5 feet. The northern portion of the vault is waist
high while the southern portion is nearly buried in the slope. The other dimensions and purpose
of the vault are unknown. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are

unknown or unrecorded.

R N LA

Figure 1.18: Canfield Park, vault, facing southeast (K. Allen. SUNYCESF, 1994).
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Signage

The block's perimeter is dotted with various signs. Included among them are stop signs,
parking signs and a historic site sign referring to the court house. The historic site sign is located
to the west of the steps in the curb on First Street. For the locations of all the signs refer to the

1994 Site Survey of Canfield Park by Hunt Engineers and Architects. All other dimensions,
materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Figure 1.19: Canfield Park, court house signage, facing east (K. Allen. SUNYCESF, 1994).
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Parking Meters

Located in the lawn section closest to the road along First Street are nine parking meters.
They are spaced 46 feet apart and start 75 feet in from each intersection. They are gray metal
with two meters on top of a single metal cylindrical post. The meters are the standard design and

are about breast high. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown or unrecorded.

Utility Pol

There are a total of twenty utility poles placed on Block 66. Within the park itself there
are eight poles and six of them have cobra style overhead lighting. There are poles located near
the centers of what were the three plazas, one on the southwest path to the bandstand plaza,
which has no light, and three along the path from the northwest corner to the hydrangea plaza,
There is also one on the south side of the court house which also has no light. The remaining
thirteen poles are located within the lawn area along the perimeter of the block. Only three of the
perimeter poles include the cobra style lighting, two along First Street and one on the comer of
Second and Pine Street. The utility poles are of the standard rough brown timber type. The
cobra lighting is gray metal 87 All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown or unrecorded.

Fire Hydrant

Located 20 feet to the south of the corner of First and Pine Street is a standard fire
hydrant. The main part of the hydrant is yellow and the cap and ends are painted red. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown or unrecorded.

Water Features

Currently there are no water features in Canfield Park. The fountain that previously
existed has been removed.
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Statement of Significance

Canfield Park, (named in honor of its designer, Robert H. Canfield, in 1944) is a 3-acre
site located in the historic southside neighborhood of the city of Corning, New York. It is
situated on Block 66 in the center of the 340-acre tract of land the Corning Company purchased
and layout in a grid system in 1835. In 1836, the settlement was named Corning in honor of
Erastus Corning, principle financier of the Coming Company. The Company reserved Block 66,
bounded by West First Street on the north, West Second Street on the south, Pine Street to the
east and Walnut Street to the west, for the residents of Comning to enjoy and as a site for churches
and government buildings. It is locally significant for its historic role as a public space in the
neighborhood and city from the initial planning of Corning to the present. It is also significant as
an example of park design from the early twentieth-century. Canfield Park meets National
Register Criterion A in the area of Community Planning and Development for illustrating the
role of open space in the layout, growth and development of Corning for the last 159 years. It
meets National Register Criterion C in the area of Landscape Architecture for embodying the
characteristics of a distinct landscape type, the public square.

The public square and the grid system of blocks and streets was first introduced to the
United States when William Penn layout Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in 1682, although the
concept of a public square as the center of economic, social and civic activity dates back to
ancient Greece. James Oglethorpe's 1733 grid plan for Savannah, Georgia, included three-acre
public squares for each residential ward. In both Penn and Oglethorpe's plan the public square
was an important aspect of the overall plan for the city. These plans were followed by many
others as the expanding United States moved to the west. Whether residential, commercial, civic
or a combination of these uses, the public square has been an important planning concept in the
development of urban centers throughout the history of the United States. Thus, in 1835, when
laying out Corning in a grid pattern, the inclusion of a public square, as a site for churches and
government buildings, was based on 150 years of the development of the concept in United
States urban and civic design.

The initial development of Block 66, known as Public Square Park, included churches
and school houses. By the 1850's it was the location of a Baptist, Methodist and Presbyterian
Church and two schools. In 1854, ground was broken for the first court house which was
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completed in 1857 and Public Square Park became popularly known as 'Court House Square',
The Corning Company played an active role in the development of Block 66 and the village until
it was dissolved in 1854 and it executed deeds to the trustees of the village of Corning
(incorporated in 1848) for land they were still holding. Block 66 was not included in the
executed deeds. However, in 1855, they executed a deed to the village trustees for Block 66 to
be used by the inhabitants of the village of Corning as sites for public buildings and for a public
park. Included in the examples of public building were churches or places of public worship, as
they had been when Block 66 was set aside for public use in 1835. The idea that public lands
could be used for churches or places of worship raised many questions.

The concept of public land being used or sold to churches and religious groups was not
resolved until 1889. In a complex case brought by the village of Corning et. al. against Christ
Episcopal Church et. al., Supreme Court Judge Adams held that under a 1840 Act passed by the
State Legislature a village holding property for specified purposes could not include religious
purposes and thus the deed of 1855 from the Corning Company was void. This decision ended
the era of occupation of Court House Square Park by churches and places of public worship.

In 1883, the trustees of the village created a Park Commission to have control and
management over Block 66. The resolution stated that the commission was to oversee the work
of grading, layout and improvement of the park. In 1894, the village recognized the need to
make improvements to the 1854 court house. It was decided that the original court house should
be demolished and a new court house constructed. In 1902, the Board of Supervisors voted to
build a new court house and, in 1903, they hired Rochester Architect J. Foster Warner to design
the new building. In 1905, upon the completion of the new court house, the Common Council
decided to improve the public square. They passed a resolution authorizing City Engineer
Robert H. Canfield to develop plans and cost estimates for the improvements of Court House
Square.

Court House Square was thus reconfirmed as the public square at the turn of the century,
seventy years after the establishment of the square as the central place of civic activity in the
original 1835 plan for Corning. By this time the earlier buildings had been removed or destroyed
and the square was cleared of all religious institutions and opened for Canfield to develop a plan
that included the new court house and a public square. Thus Block 66 retained its central focus
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as a planning unit in Corning's physical development and entered a new phase as a designed
public square.

The 1893 World's Columbian Exposition held in Chicago produced a wave of enthusiasm
for civic planning and design throughout the United States. The spatial and design ideals used in
the plan were based on classic planning and architectural principles taught by the Ecole des
Beaux Arts in Panis where many architects of the time had studied. The grandeur and scale of
the fair gave the United States a new vision of what city design could be and popularized a new
architectural style. The new urban planning approach became known as the City Beautiful
Movement and the Beaux Arts style in architecture. Both Warner and Canfield based their
designs on the principles and styles made popular by the Columbian Exposition.

The new court house was located in the northeast quadrant of the square at the corner of
West First and Pine Streets. To site the court house in this location a considerable amount of
grading had to be done. Warner chose the classic form and style of the Greek Temple for the
court house which was placed approximately 10 feet above the sidewalk elevation of West First
Street. The approach to the front door was via a grand stair case.

Canfield's plans for the public square were equally as grand and based on the design
principles of the Beaux Ants style and City Beautiful Movement. Canfield's plan was presented
to the public in 1905. It was slightly altered in 1907, presumably based on the projected costs of
the 1905 Plan. The outer edge of the square was defined with a curb, a grass strip and a four foot
sidewalk. Street trees were planted in the grass strip equally spaced around the square. The
interior plan for the square was structured and spatially organized based on the location of the
court house and three formal circular plazas, the Band Plaza, Fountain Plaza and Flower Plaza.
The placement and relationship of the four major features of the square were skillfully sited
considering the rather severe slope of the block.

In analyzing the structure of the plan it was divided into four equal north-south, east-west
quadrants. The two south quadrants contained relatively gentle to moderate north facing slopes.
The two north quadrants contained relatively steep north facing slopes. The northeast quadrant
was the location of the court house, with the main entrance facing north on West First Street.
The Band Plaza was centrally located in the two western quadrants. The 140 foot diameter circle
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was accessed by a central entrance off Walnut Street and a diagonal entry path from the comer of
West Second and Walnut Streets. Located in the center of the south-east quadrant was the
Flower Plaza. The 60 foot diameter circle was accessed by a diagonal path from the comer of
West Second and Pine Streets. A second entry was centrally located on Pine Street. The path
entered the circle on a diagonal from the Pine Street entrance. The Fountain Plaza was located in
the center of the two south quadrants. The 60 foot diameter circle was accessed by a central
entrance off West Second Street. The three plazas were connected by straight radial paths from
the center of each circle. The Band Plaza was connected to the entry landing of the court house
by a slightly curving path on the slope. The final entry to the square was located at the comner of
Walnut and West First Streets. The gently curving path went up the slope, intersected the Band
Plaza-Court House path and connected to the center of the Flower Plaza

All of the major features and spaces of the square were carefully articulated and defined.
Each entry to the square was delineated with plantings of shrubs on both sides of the path. The
three plazas were defined by tree and shrub plantings around the circles. Each plaza had a major
focal point from which the names were derived. The Band Plaza was 1o have had a pavilion at
the center, however, it was never constructed. The Fountain Plaza had a 25 foot stone water
basin with a sculptured fountain at the center. The Flower Plaza had a large planting of
hydrangeas at the center. Each of the plazas were surrounded by benches. The front of the court
house had a very formal planting scheme of shrubs and perennials. The back of the court house
was planted with large trees. This planting provided a backdrop for the building when viewed
from West First Street and also as a screen to block the back of the building from the rest of the
square. Canfield's design for the square was highly articulated and skillfully organized,
considering the severe slope of the site. Its overall structure, particularly its sub-components,
reflects the basic principles of the City Beautiful Movement. Based on Canfield Park's history
and local significance as a central planning unit in the development and growth of the city and as
an example of park design the period of significance for Canfield Park is 1835 to 1912.

Assessment of Integrity

Assessment of integrity is based on an analysis of each character-defining feature present
during the historic period compared to those which exist today. Each of the features are listed as
historic if they were present during the period of significance and existing or not existing. A
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determination was then made regarding the contribution of each existing feature to the
significance of the square. A contributing feature is one "... present during the period of
significance and possesses historic integrity reflecting the character at that time or is capable of
yielding important information about the period."3# A non-contributing feature is one "... not
present during the significant period, or due to alterations, disturbances, additions or other
changes, it no longer possesses historic integrity reflecting its character at that time or is
incapable of yielding important information about the period."%?

Topography (Historic, Existing and Contributing)

Although a copy of the historic topographic map was not located, in laying the 1907 Plan
over the 1994 topographic map there is a perfect match.

Vegetation (Historic, Existing and Contributing)

Many of the trees and shrubs located on the 1907 Plan still exist, although they have not
been maintained in recent years. Throughout the park many invasive species (including Norway
Maples, Boxelders, Elms, etc.) have appeared. This is particularly so in some of the shrub
massings.

Spatial Organization (Historic and Contributing)

While the structure and organization of the 1907 Plan is clearly visible in the ground
plane, the vertical definition along the paths and three plazas has been altered due to the growth
of plant materials or the removal of plant materials.

Circulation

* Perimeter Sidewalk- existing and contributing; the historic walk was 4 feet wide and
has been replaced (date unknown) with a 4 1/2 foot concrete walk in the same
location.

* Court House West Walk- historic, existing and contributing.

* Court House East Entry Walk- historic, not existing.
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* 8 Foot Wide Park Paths- historic, existing and contributing; The location and alignment
of the historic paths are visible in the topography of the site. In most cases the
width is also visible. The gravel and stone gutters have been covered with soil
and grass. However, in eight different locations the existing cover was removed
to reveal the paving material and stone gutters.

* Court House Service Area- historic, not existing.

* Court House East Entry Walk- existing and non-contributing, was added (date
unknown) after period of significance.

* Second Street Access Ramp- existing and non-contributing, was added (date
unknown) after period of significance.

* Court House Three Steps (curb sidewalk)- existing and non-contributing, were added
(date unknown) after period of significance.

* Vehicular Access and Court House Parking Lot- existing and non-contributing, were
added (date unknown) after period of significance.

Buildings and Structures
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* Court House- historic, existing and contributing.

* Court House Entry Stairs- existing and contributing. The stairs were altered (date
unknown) by adding side boarding walls which allowed a landing to be
constructed in the middle of the original single flight of stairs. The original 3 x 3
foot boarder blocks were also realigned.

* Court House West Entry Steps- historic, not existing.
* Court House Iron Stairs- historic, not existing.

*Court House East Access Steps- historic, not existing.



* Bandstand- not existing; Although the Bandstand was located on the 1907 Plan it was
never built,

* Court House West Entry Steps- existing and non-contributing, were added (date
unknown) after period of significance.

* East Retaining Wall Steps- existing and non-contributing, were added (date
unknown) after period of significance.

* Court House Steel Stairs- existing and non-contributing, were added (date
unknown) after period of significance.

* Playground North- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Playground South- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

Site Engineering Systems
* Gutters, Court House Entry Stairs- historic, existing and contributing.
* Gutters, Court House West Walk- historic, existing and contributing.

* Retaining Wall West of Court House- existing and non-contributing; The original
retaining wall was altered or removed (date unknown) and the existing wall
constructed (date unknown).

* Retaining Wall, East of Court House- historic, not existing.

* Retaining Wall, Court House Parking Lot- existing and non-contributing, was added
(date unknown) afier period of significance.

* Retaining Wall, Playground North- existing and non-contributing, was added (date
unknown) after period of significance.
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Mechanical Systems

* Drain Grates (6)- 2 historic, existing and contributing; 4 existing and non-contributing;
No mechanical information was included on the 1907 Plan, however, one early
postcard did illustrate a round drain grate. The 1994 Topographic Survey locates
six drain grates. Field inspection confirmed two to be identical to the one in the
postcard. A third grate appears to be historic, but is unconfirmed. Three grates
were added later (date unknown) and are not historic.

* Manhole Cover- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

Furnishings and Objects
* Benches- historic, not existing.
*Drinking Fountains- historic, not existing.

* Flagpole- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Bollards- existing and non-contributing, were added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Electrical Box- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Cannon Footers- existing, undetermined; The cannon footers did not appear on the
1907 Plan. No information was located regarding these features. However, they
may have been added after World War II and could be significant in their own

right.

* Vault- existing, undetermined; The vault did not appear on the 1907 Plan. No
information was located regarding this feature, However, it may have been
associated with the original drainage system.



* Parking Meters- existing and non-contributing, were added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Signage- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Utility Poles- existing and non-contributing, were added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

* Fire Hydrant- existing and non-contributing, was added (date unknown) after
period of significance.

Water Features
* Fountain- historic, not existing,

Based on the significance of Canfield Park and the analysis of the existing features, the
integrity of the property as a whole must be evaluated. "Integrity is the ability of a property to
convey its significance."® According to the Secretary of the Interior, historic properties either
retain their integrity or they do not. Assessment of integrity is based on the condition and
existence of the physical features of the property and how they convey its significance.

In order to evaluate and assess integrity, seven aspects or qualities that define it have been
established. The seven aspects are location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and
association.

* Location- the place where the historic property was constructed or where the historic
event took place.

* Design- the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space, structure, and
style of a propenty.

* Setting- the physical environment of a historic property.

* Materials- the physical elements that were combined or deposited during a particular
period of time and in a particular pattern or configuration to form a historic property.
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Workmanship- the physical evidence of the crafts of a particular culture or people during
any given period of history or prehistory.

Feeling- a property's expression of aesthetic or historic sense of a particular period of
time.

Association- the direct link between an important historic event or person and a historic
property.9!

As documented, Canfield Park is significant to Corning's growth and development and

for its landscape design as a public square. In assessing the seven aspects of integrity, those that
are important to a public square are integrity of location, design, materials and feeling. The

following is a description of the property's existing condition in regards to each of the seven
aspects of integrity.

Location- Canfield Park retains high integrity of location. It is located in the same place
as during the period of significance.

Design- Canfield Park retains partial integrity of design. The overall structure and
organization of the property is intact. The spatial arrangement of the plan is evident in
the base plane, but is not completely evident in the vertical plane.

The fountain, which was a very important feature to the park, no longer exists and a

number of contemporary features have been added to the property. While these alterations and
contemporary features detract from the historic character, they do not damage the overall design
and organization of the property.
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Setting- Canfield Park retains high integrity of setting. Although an assessment of the
setting was not a part of this report, the park is located in the historic southside
neighborhood which is presently being considered for nomination as a Historic District.

Materials- Canfield Park retains partial integrity of materials. Many of the historic plant
materials are extant and from site inspection it appears that some portion of the historic
path material remains.



Workmanship- Canfield Park, as a whole, retains low integrity of workmanship.
However, the grading of the property retains a high degree of integrity.

Feeling- Canfield Park retains partial integrity of feeling. The park is still used as a park,
although the activities and use are different from the historic period. The historic plaza's
of the park are evident in the topography but only partially evident as spaces. The lawn
and plant material provide only a partial feeling of what the historic park was like.

Association- Canfield Park is not associated with an important historic event or person.

Integrity of the Property as a Whole- Canfield Park possesses some degree of integrity in
all of the applicable aspects of integrity. It possesses high or partial integrity in location,
design, setting, materials and feeling illustrating that Canfield Park retains integrity.

Preservation Treatment- Preliminary Recommendations

Preservation treatment recommendations are based on the significance and integrity of a
property and proposed use and future plans for the property. An assessment of the city's future
intentions and needs regarding Canfield park was beyond the scope of this project. Thus the
recommendations with regard to treatment are limited and only preliminary. "Four approaches
currently are recognized by the Secretary of the Interior for the treatment of historic resources:
Preservation, Rehabilitation, Reconstruction, and Restoration."92 "Choosing an appropriate
treatment is critical in deciding the future of the historic resource. This decision is based on
several factors including "... the historical significance, the physical condition, the proposed use,
and intended interpretation.”?3 Based on the fact that the city's proposed use and intended
interpretation are unknown, it is difficult to recommend an overall treatment for Canfield Park.
However, in light of the research for this report, the observation of use during site visits and the
fact that this is a public park, it would seem reasonable to assume that rehabilitation would be the
proposed primary treatment for the entire park in the future. The Secretary of the Interior's
definition of Rehabilitation is as follows: "Rehabilitation is the act or process of making possible
a compatible use for a property through repair, alterations, and additions while preserving those
portions or features which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural values."* Under the
framework of Rehabilitation as the primary treatment for the entire park, recommended
treatments for individual features could include the other three treatments.
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At this point in time, based on this report and a lack of knowledge of the city's intentions
for the park, the recommended treatment is Preservation. The Secretary of the Interior's
definition of Preservation is as follows: "Preservation is defined as the act or process of applying
measures necessary to sustain the existing form, integrity, and materials of an historic property.,
Work, including preliminary measures to protect and stabilize the property, generally focuses
upon the ongoing maintenance and repair of historic materials and features rather than extensive
replacement and new construction. New exterior additions are not within the scope of this
treatment; however, the limited and sensitive upgrading of mechanical, electrical, and plumbing
systems and other code-required work to make properties functional is appropriate within a
preservation project."?® To assist those responsible for the maintenance and management of a
historic property the Secretary of the Interior has developed eight standards related to the
Preservation Treatment. They are as follows:

"Standards for Preservation : (1) A property shall be used as it was historically, or be
given a new use that maximizes the retention of distinctive materials, features, spaces, and spatial
relationships. Where a treatment and use have not been identified, a property shall be protected
and, if necessary, stabilized until additional work may be undertaken.

(2) The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The replacement of
intact or repairable historic materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships
that characterize a property shall be avoided.

(3) Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use, Work
needed to stabilize, consolidate, and conserve existing historic materials and features shall be
physically and visually compatible, identifiable upon close inspection, and properly documented
for future research.

(4) Changes to a property that have acquired historic significance in their own right shall be
retained and preserved.

(5) Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of
craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved.
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(6) The existing condition of historic features shall be evaluated to determine the appropriate
level of intervention needed. Where the severity of deterioration requires repair or limited
replacement of a distinctive feature, the new material shall match the old in composition, design,
color, and texture.

(7) Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means
possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials shall not be used.

(8) Archeological resources shall be protected and preserved in place. If such resources must be
disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken,"%6

Specifically for Canfield park, two Preservation recommendations should be considered
for immediate action. Both are necessary 1o retain and preserve existing historic material of the
park.

Yegetation

The practice of indiscriminate removal and pruning of historic plant material should be
stopped. If it continues, it will damage and/or eliminate the integrity of the vegetation at the site
and ultimately diminish the historic character of the park. If pruning is to proceed it must be

based on the knowledge of what materials are historic and what materials are not. Removal of
invasive species would be an initial recommended approach.

JTopography

Steps should be taken to stabilize those sections of the park where erosion is occurring.
In specific areas erosion is not only affecting the topography, but it is damaging the existing
historic materials which covered the park paths,

A final recommendation is that the city take whatever actions are necessary to produce a
document of treatment recommendations for Canfield Park. In the meantime, adopting the
treatment of Preservation and the general standards will protect the historic resource from further
deterioration and damage.
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CHAPTER 2

DENISON PARK

The site of Denison Park was originally a swamp.97 In 1805, Ansel McCall built a
sawmill and grist mill on the land and later it came to be known as The Mills.9% At the beginning
of the twentieth-century the area took on a new identity when the residents of Corning decided
that the city could use a park that was suitable for all to use.9?

On July 14, 1906, the subject of building a new park was first brought up during a regular
meeting of the Corning Business Men's Association.!® They became interested in the
proposition and immediately began to search for a suitable site.191 The site found for the park
was the swampy area on the east side of the city, around the site of the Johnson Mill.192 Later in
July, the Business Men's Association decided that they would purchase the property. In addition
to the Johnson Mill the site also was the location of the East Side Ball Park.13 The remainder of
the site was a swamp and dumping grounds,104

On September 6, 1906, the 33 acres of land chosen for the new park was purchased from
the Johnson Estate.’® Harold A. Caparn, a prominent Landscape Architect from New York
City, was hired to draw up a set of plans for the park and construction began in April of 1907.106
Around the same time, Mill Street, which boardered the park property to the west, was changed
to Park Avenue.!®?7 On May 14th through the 18th, the Business Men's Association held an
elaborate country fair at City Hall in order to raise the funds needed to construct the new public
park, which had not yet been named.'®® The fair raised approximately $3,100.109

During the first year of construction, funding for the work was extremely difficult to
raise.!10 In April of 1908, a generous benefactor saved the project from financial ruin, 1!
Charles L. Denison, the son of lifelong resident and businessman of Corning, Charles G.
Denison, gave $10,000 to the park project in the memory of his father.112 In recognition of his
generous contribution to the park fund, the new east-side recreation grounds was named Denison
Park, after his father, Charles G. Denison.!!3 During the summer of 1908, work progressed
rapidly.14 In an effort to raise more funds for the park, the community held a local talent
‘Society Circus' on the afternoons and evenings of August 19, 20 and 21 of 1908.115
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In July of 1909, a joint commission of the Bureau of Public Works and the City Common
Council, took a tour of the park to examine the work done and give their approval of the
project.!® An odd donation in 1909 of several animals added a zoo to the new and incomplete
Pm—k_ll?

On September 2, 1909, at a meeting of the Corning Business Men's Association, it was
announced that Charles L. Denison of New York had donated an additional $15,265.118 This
contribution enabled the Business Men's Association to transfer Denison Park, debt free, to the
city.1® On September 6, 1909, Labor Day, a public ceremony was held to present Denison Park
to the City of Comning.120 Mayor McNamara accepted the deed from Dr. George F. Showers,
president of the Business Men's Association, with the stipulation that the city maintained the park
and that the park should be officially named 'Denison Park.1?! Charles Denison had personally
contributed more than half of the park's $40,000 construction cost.122

For the most part, the residents of the city were thrilled to have their new park.123
Unfortunately, some were less appreciative. Only three days before the park's opening
ceremony, some social deviants made a rampage through the park.'?4 They damaged shrubs,
broke the roof of the zoo's pigeon house, killed a fox and overturned the park's cannon for
reasons unknown.!25  Some of the passive opposition only spoke nostalgically of the old East
Side Park and the high school football and semi-professional baseball games as well as the
numerous circuses held there, 126

Work continued in the park through 1910. A concrete children's wading pool was built,
picnic pavilions were erected, and drinking fountains were placed in the park.!?’ The concrete
bridge, designed by R. H. Canfield, the designer of Court House Park and Superintendent of
Public Works, was also constructed at this time.1?® It was located in the southern section of the
park. A ball field was also installed in 1910, along with a quarter mile running track and a
playground which included slides, swings and seesaws, located in the northern section of the
park.129

For many years to follow, summers in Comning meant that there would be fun, relaxation,
recreation, exhibits and special events to look forward to in Denison Park.!30 In September of
1911, Corning's firemen planned a convention that was to include exhibition airplane flights by
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Jean Godet of the Curtiss Exhibition Company.!3! On September 6, 1911, approximately 20,000
people paid 25 cents each to watch Godet fly his Curtiss biplane. Unfortunately, the weather was
not cooperative and the concerned Glenn Curtiss advised Godet not to attempt the flight.132
Godet did not take Curtiss' advice and flew the plane.

Calmly and coolly, Godet scated himself in the flimsy looking structure, examined the levers,

waved his hand to his mechanics and went speeding across the Denison park ball diamond and out

on to the greensward. In a twinkling he had tilted his machine upwards and was making for the
upper currents.133

Once Godet reached approximately 100 feet, a gust of wind tilted the aircraft and Godet crashed
behind the river dike.!34 He walked away harmed only in pride.

The firemen arranged another exhibition flight on Friday afternoon, September 22, 1911,
this time by Eugene B. Ely, also a Curtiss aviator.!35 His successful flight took him to an altitude
of 1000 feet above Denison Park.136

Flying in such a beautiful setting which the natural surroundings of Denison Park affords, is a

pleasure even to one more than urr.‘linaril;v inured to the thrills which make aviation a rare sport and
a pastime rather than a mere vocation.!3

A number of changes were made to the park from 1916 through 1919. In 1916, the park
received the first power lawnmower in the area to cut the vast acreage of grass.!3 Later the
following year, sandboxes, a large open-air picnic pavilion and tennis courts were added to the
park.13® With the onset of World War I, the price of animal food sky rocketed and caused the
zoo to close in 1917.140 Two years later, in 1919, the Memorial Gate was designed by James
Walker, an Architect from Buffalo, New York. The gate was erected at the main entrance off of
Conhocton Street, and dedicated at noon on Memorial Day, May 30th, 1919141

In 1919, the park's benefactor, Charles L. Denison, donated the funds necessary to build a
public swimming pool in the park.142 The pool's heating apparatus was also paid for by Denison
and the pools construction was under way by early summer.143 It was projected that the pool
would be completed and open the following summer. However, due to water shortages in the
city and problems with the heater, the pool's opening was delayed.!44 During the spring of 1921,
Charles Denison presented the city with a chlorinator for the park's pool which aided in the
conservation of water, allowing the pool to finally be opened on May 30, 1921.145 The Bath
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House was designed during this same year. The project was headed by William O. Drake, Civil
Engineer of the Corning Board of Public Works. The pool was closed again in 1923 due to
another water shortage but reopened and was in full use by the summer of 1924.146 Financed by
public subscription over a drowning in the river, the pool was opened despite a very tight city
budger.147

People did not only come 1o Denison Park for the recreation but also for the culture.
Every Sunday for years, band concerts were an afternoon tradition.48Nearly 12,000 people from
Corning and the outlying rural areas congregated at Denison Park on Labor Day, September 6,
1920.14% The arrangements were made by the Chamber of Commerce and all enjoyed the day
picnicking in the park.130

Because a large portion of the park was constructed on the swamp, water and wet grounds
were a constant problem. It became necessary to redesign the park to provide a drainage system
to remedy the situation.!3! In 1927, Charles L. Denison once again made a generous donation of
$12,000 to build the park lake to deal with the water problem.!32 This left the city with a bill of
only $3,000 to cover the remaining costs.!33 The city honored Denison at a public dinner when
he visited Coming to check the work of the completed lake.!3* It is unknown when the lake was
completed, what its limits were (both in size and shape), or who was responsible for its design.

The summer of 1929 brought a new attraction to Denison Park. A 12 minute boat tour
around the park’s lake was available for visitors enjoyment. The trip began at the boat house and
toured the entire lake via a light motorboat. The tour cost adults 10 cents and children only a
nickel. The son of the caretaker of the pool at Denison Park, Lloyd Sutherland, was the boats
captain. This new venture was a gift from the park's benefactor, Charles L. Denison. The boat
was purchased with the interest that had accrued in the original park fund from 1909. The
$272.00 interest was forwarded to Charles, but he had returned it to the city to be put towards
something for the park, thus the motorboat tour.155

Throughout the 1930's, Denison Park continued to draw visitors and was a focal point of
the community.!5 The park was very popular as a tourist camp, attracting tent campers and
trailer campers alike.17 Visitors came from neighboring states each summer.158 Family
reunions were en vogue and the park was an ideal location to hold them.19 This created a high



demand for the pavilions and reservations became necessary.!#? The country schools would hold
their annual field days in the park each spring.'®! The city conducted a recreation program
during the children's summer vacations and, during the Great Depression, a special effort was
made to have programs for the unemployed adults of the community as well.162 With three
softball leagues competing for usage of the ball field, the park always had visitors during playing
seasons, 163

Unfortunately, sometimes people are never happy with what ever you give them and such
was the case with the serpentine lake that was built in the late 1920's,'4 Neighbors complained
about the mosquito infestation and odors that resulted from the water being stagnant.!65 During
the fall of 1939, a large portion of the wings of the lake were filled in to help alleviate the
problem,166

In June of 1945, the city was host to "Here's Your Infantry,” a demonstration team out
from Fort Benning, Georgia.!? They performed in Denison Park to help entice people to
purchase War Bonds. The Bond Drive was a huge success, with $747,391 worth of E bonds sold
in the Corning area.168

In 1946, there was a major flood that set new records in Corning.'%® The force of the
flood waters weakened the already deteriorating Gibson Bridge to the point that the structure was
shaky and unsafe for use.!” It was necessary to come up with a solution because Route 17, a
heavily used route, crossed over the river on Gibson Bridge. Route 17 connected Elmira to
Corning and East Market Street.!”! Shocking the citizens, the State Department of
Transportation's solution was to re-site the western approach highway for the bridge replacement,
straight through the middle of Denison Park.1”2 This plan was not well received as many of
Corning's citizens felt that bisecting the park with a highway would ruin it.!”® Concerned over
the possible destruction of the park people were quick to bring up the fact that the park was
specified to be used for recreation and the highway would violate Denison's intent and wishes.174
Others were only concerned over whether the new highway was to be rerouted through the
business district of the city.1” They preferred that the highway would be routed through less
congested areas of the city.!7® Those that advocated the State's plan pointed out that the State
would not be responsible for covering the expense of the new bridge and repaving if Route 17
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did not cross the park and go through the city.!”7 The whole city was in a ruckus over the plan,
both for and against.178

The Common Council decided it would mean political suicide if they assumed the
responsibility for the decision. Therefore, in November of 1946, it was put to a vote in a
referendum.!” The vote was very close and 95% of all the registered voters participated.!80
Unfortunately for the future of Denison Park, the vote was in favor of building the highway
through the park.!®! The opposition obtained an injunction but in February the injunctions were
denied and the route had legal clearance.!® The plans included four-lane approaches and a
bridge.18 Construction began in 1947 and was finished in September of 1950. The new Gibson
Bridge was dedicated by Governor Thomas E. Dewey on October 4, 1950,184

The clevated approach through the park was designed and landscaped so that it blends into the

nnr,um:lagccncry of the area. Under-passes permit users to go from onc part of the park to the
other.

The park continued to be used, although because of the new highway it had to be almost
completely re-built.186

In 1960, the school board was considering building a high school and had chosen the
northern edge of Denison Park for its site.!87 Again, opponents objected fiercely on the grounds
that the school would be depriving the city of recreational land.188 The board attempted to cool
the issue by promising that the school's recreational facilities would be open to public use.!8? In
February of the same year, the plan was defeated.190

The 1972 flood that destroyed a good portion of downtown Coming also destroyed much
of Denison Park. The city spent thousands of dollars in rehabilitating and repairing the park.191
Through a grant from New York States Parks and Recreation Division, Denison Park had a new
pool built to replace the original 1920's pool and bathhouse.192
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PERIOD 1

CONSTRUCTION OF DENISON PARK
1907-1910

Plans pertaining to Period 1, Denison Park:
None Available
Photographs utilized for research for Period 1, Denison Park:
1908-1909 Concrete Bridge (94.0.650)
1907-1909 Construction (94.0.651)
1909 View of Bandstand (94.0.655)
1907-1909 Construction of Denison Park (94.0.654)
1907-1909 Construction (94.0.652)
1907-1909 Construction (94.0.653)
1907-1909 Construction of Denison Park (94.0.656)

Note: All photos mentioned are the property and copyright of the Coming Painted-Post Historical
Socicty (CPPHS).

Topography

The topography of Denison Park during the execution of Harold A. Caparn's design was
primarily flat, The evidence of this came from analyzing historic photographic documentation
since the original plan could not be located during the research for this report..

The north and western sections of the park had a slight undulating pattern to the grade. In
the northeastern sector of the park the grade rose toward the east, near the river boarder, where
the levee was constructed. The levee was approximately 10 to 15 feet high with approximately a
30% side slope in some areas.
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The park was enclosed by a deep swale that was located on the eastern boarder. It
widened out in the southern section and then narrowed to the west almost to the location of the
wading pool. The swale, which contained several islands, had an approximately 4 to 5 foot drop
in elevation to the water level. Depending on the season, the swale at times was nothing more
than a shallow swamp. The swale gave the park character by creating elevation differences and
by crearing land features such as islands and peninsulas,193

Vegetation

Without the information that would have been provided on the original plans, it is
difficult ro identify what was planted, how many and where. From the historical photographs,
and the apparent age of some of the existing trees some of the original park’s plant materials were

located, although complete identification of them was not possible.

Figure 2.1: Denison Park, vegetation (CPPHS, #94.0.652).



On the northwestern side of the park, low shrubs lined the sidewalk near the children's
wading pool. There were numerous deciduous shade trees of approximately 4 to 6 inches in
diameter, dispersed around the wading pool and encircling the water feature. The carriage paths
in this section of the park were lined with low shrubbery and young deciduous trees,

Toward the northeastern boarder a grove of mature deciduous trees existed. Besides this
grove, there were only scattered large and mature deciduous shade trees spotting the central
section. There were, however, small trees and shrubs planted throughout the park. Along the
center of the eastern boarder several large deciduous trees existed and were complemented by
new trees, approximately 2 inches in diameter. These plantings helped to define the edge of the
carriage road at the base of the levee.

The southern section of the park, which was one of the most heavily visited areas, was
planted with young shrubbery as well as small caliber deciduous trees. To the south of the
cement bridge, along the southern side of the carriage path, was a plot of three even rows of low
growing shrubs. At the intersection of paths, across from the bridge was another matching
triangular plot of rowed shrubs. The island south of the cement bridge was dotted with 2 inch
caliber trees and one large 8 inch tree marking the center of the island. The carriage and walking
paths in the southern section of Denison Park were also lined with small young shade trees.1%4
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Spatial Organization

Prior to the highway/bridge being introduced in the late 1940's, the park had been broken
into four sections: North, South, East and West sections. Areas are presented as deliniated until

Period 3.
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Figure 2.2: Denison Park, sectional division (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).

The parks exact spatial organization is not fully known during this period because of the
lack of availability of an original plan. From historic photographs of the period and later maps, a
general spatial organization has been surmised.
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The park was broken down into four attraction areas with open space and paths between
them. From the East Market Street entrance to the park, the baseball field dominated the
northern central section of the park. To the southeast of the baseball field, in the southern central
section, the bandstand/gazebo, tower and concrete bridge stood together creating a gathering and
focal point. Surrounding the central sections, along the westemn, southern and eastern boarders
was the water feature and island system. This attraction area was mainly open space for walking
and carriage paths. The final attraction area was located in the northwestemn section of the park,
surrounded by the carriage paths from the main Conhocton Street and Park Avenue entrances.
This area was probably the busiest due to the location of the children's wading pool and the

playground equipment area near by.!95

R

CONHOCTOM

Figure 2.3: Denison Park, spatial organization, 1907-1910 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).



Circulation

Due to the unavailability of a plan for the construction period, the exact circulation routes
are unknown. However, historic photographs illustrate that carriage paths and walking paths
were located throughout the park. It is also known that a one quarter mile running track was
built during this period.!%® Its exact location is unknown. Comparing historic photographs with
a later plan, the location plan of the major pathways was produced. All other dimensions,
materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,!%7

Figure 2.4: Denison Park, extimated circulation 1907-1910 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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Buildings and Structures

Shed

The only building known to exist during this period was a small wooden shed. Located
in the southern central section of the park, the shed was approximately 20 feet directly west of
the concrete bridge. The shed was approximately 8 feet in width, 10 feet in length and 8 feet in
height at the peak of the roof (the actual dimensions are unknown, this is only an estimate based
upon the visual assessment of a 1909 photograph). The purpose, or use, of the shed is not
known.!%% All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Figure 2.5: Denison Park, South section (CPPHS, #94.0.655).



Concrete Bridge

The concrete bridge was one of the major structures of the southern central section of the
park. Designed by the Superintendent of Public Works, R. H. Canfield, the bridge was
completed in 1910. The purpose of the bridge was to allow carriage and pedestrian travel across
the eastern wing of the water feature. The design of the bridge was fairly simple and it was not
very omate. The base of the bridge was designed with a center, shallow arch that met straight
and solid abutments on either side. The center of the arch had a block that was inscribed to
frame the date 1909. The structure was completely symmetrical and was inlayed with

rectangular shapes 1o decorate the low walls that boardered the gently curved road bed. The
walls were capped and included a slight, but recognizable, overhang,199

The bridge measured 18 feet in width (inside edge to inside edge) at the center. From the
outside edge to the outside edge, the measurement was 20 1/2 feet in width. The outer width at
the ends of the bridge were 29 feet, 5 inches. The bridge's overall length was 60 feet. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,200

BRIDOEIN DENSISON FARE, CORNING., M. 7.

Figure 2.6: Denison Park, concrete bridge (Dimitroff Collection).
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Tower

Located directly to the west of the concrete bridge was the location of the concrete tower,
The tower was cylindrical and included an iron or steel frame basket on the top of the cylinder.
The basket was covered with a metal, inverted disk-shaped overhanging roof. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown, 20!

Mrve=ay in Dennison Park. Corning, N, Y,

Figure 2.7: Denison Park, west side of tower and bridge (Dimitroff Collection).
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To the northwest of the tower and concrete bridge, in the southern section of the park,
stood a large wooden framed gazebo/bandstand. The platform was six-sided and elevated to
approximately 10 feet above ground level. The platform was bordered with a rustic wooden
railing that was approximately waist high. The roof of the structure mimicked the platform in
shape with an overhang and included a flag pole jutting upward from its peak. The roof and
platform were supported by six large wooden posts and were covered, from the platform to the
ground, with horizontally mounted boards. The actual dimensions and color of the structure are
unknown. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.202

e BT LTI RO LD ST T B i e i et & St s

Figure 2.8: Denison Park, South section of park (Dimitroff Collection).
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Pavili

There was a large wooden framed, open air pavilion located in the southern section of the
park, on the island. The rectangular structure was almost due south of the concrete bridge. The
open sided structure had a peaked roof that also had four sides and was supported by large
wooden posts. From the information provided on the 1945 Map of Denison Park and the 1947
Plan of Denison Park Alterations, the length of the pavilion was 25 feet and the width was 15
feet. The pavilion's other dimensions and color are unknown. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.20

Bridges

There were four rustic, wooden bridges constructed in the park between 1907 and 1910.
The bridges were two separate, maiched sets. The larger set of bridges were located off of the
western central entrance. They spanned the western water features and ended on the island that
separated the two. In direct line with one another, the bridges were designed to allow carriages
and pedestrians to access the central section of the park from Park Avenue. From historic
photographic documentation, the materials of the bridges have been determined to be: steal T’
beams, supporting the bed, placed on concrete footings and supports; rustic-cut, barked logs for
side railings and railing supports, and wooden planks for the bed. The combined length of the

bridges was 120 feet.204 All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.

The other bridge set were located in the southern section of the park, connecting the
island with the rest of the park. The one bridge spanned the southeastern bank of the levee to the
island and the other was located directly across the island from it, to the northwest. Both of these
bridges were designed for pedestrian travel only. They were constructed in a similar manner to
the other bridges and apparently of similar materials. The main difference between the two sets
of bridges, besides the smaller size of the latter pair, is that the second set was designed in a
shallow inverted “V* shape. The spans of the two bridges were 40 feet each. The width of the
bridges was 8 feet. All other dimensions and the color of the bridges are unknown.205 All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Figure 2.9: Denison Park, Park Ave. bridge facing south (CPPHS, #94.0.653).

DENNISON i'.ikl':'r.. '._'.jl_.lul HING,

Figure 2.10: Denison Park, Island footbridge, facing east (Dimitroff Collection).
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Ball Field

The ball field was located in the northern section of the park and the diamond was
oriented in a north to south direction. Whether or not the ball field had a backstop or bleacher is
unknown. Documentation of other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics has
not been found.

Site Engineering Systems
Levee

The levee that prevents the Chemung River from flooding the park every spring was
constructed during the 1907-1910 period. The levee boarders the entire eastern side of the park.
From historic photographs, the height of the levy was approximated 1o be between 10 and 15
feet. The side slopes in some of the pictures appear to be nearly a 3 to 1 slope in some areas.
The top of the levee was wide enough to be used as a carmiage path. The original dimensions of

the levee are unknown, All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.206

Figure 2.11: Denison Park, levee, facing northwest (CPPHS, #94.0.651).
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Furnishings and Objects
Bollards

Appearing in several historical photographs are knee high wooden bollards. They
boardered the walk to the wading pool from Park Avenue. They also surrounded the wading
pool, acting as an open barrier. On the opposite end of the park, in the southern section, the
bollards were placed at the entrances of the foot paths, where they met with carriage paths. The
color of the bollards is unknown. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and

characteristics are unknown.207

Figure 2.12: Denison Park, wading pool and playground area, facing north (CPPHS, #94.0.648).
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Benches

Benches were located in all sections of the park that included a major feature. The
standard bench utilized was constructed of steei or iron for the frame and wood planks for the
seat and back. The seat appeared to have been made up of many long and narrow strips to
conform to the curved shape. The back incorporated two wide, long planks in order to provide
support. The benches appear to have been approximately 6 feet in length. All other dimensions,

materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.208

Plav Equipment

Play equipment was installed in 1910 and was sited around the children’s wading pool,
off of Park Avenue. There were several types of swing sets, seesaws and slides. The material
utilized for a majority of the equipment was wood. All other dimensions, materials,

specifications and characteristics are unknown,2®

Ay -Grounds, Demison Park, Corning, N Y.

S - .

Figure 2.13: Denison Park, wading pool and playground area, facing northwest (Dimitroff Collection).
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Drinkine Fountai

In 1910, drinking fountains were added to the park. Their location and all other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown

Water Features
Children's Wadine Pool

The concrete wading pool was round with a concrete walk bordering it and was 75 feet, 6
inches in diameter (including the walk). The walk was 4 feer in width., The center of the pool
was adormed with a large bronze statue of a child blowing a horn. From the horn sprayed an
immense fountain of water. The statue was donated by James A. Drake.2'? The name of the
sculptor is unknown. The pool was located east of the intersection of Conhocton Streer and Park
Avenue. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.2!!

Figure 2.14: Denison Park, wading pool, facing south (CPPHS, #94.0.657).
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Lake Area

Although the lake in Denison Park was not built until 1927, during the construction
period deep and wide swales were dug. This created a few small islands along the western edge
and one large island near the southern boarder of the park. The water level fluctuated, leaving
the swales full at rimes and swampy during dryer periods. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown,212

Figure 2.15: Denison Park, West section of park, facing northwest (Dimitroff Collection).
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PERIOD 2

DENISON PARK
1911-1945

Plans pertaining to Period 2, Denison Park:
Design for the Denison Memorial, by James Walker, date unknown.

Map of Denison Park, by unknown, 1945,
Denison Park Bath House, by William Q. Drake, 1921.

Denison Park Lake Improvement, by the Board of Public Works, 1927.
Photographs utilized for research for Period 2, Denison Park:

1915 Children's Wading Pool (94.0.665)

1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.648)

1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.649)

Gateway (94.0.662)

Entrance (94.0.658)

Pool and Bath House (94.0.661)

Wading Pool (94.0.657)

Note: All photos mentioned are the property and copyright of the Coming Painied-Post Historical
Society.

Topography

The only known major alterations to the topographical form of Denison Park during the
period of 1911-1945 was the filling of a section of the lake in 1939. The 1945 Map of Denison
Park makes no reference 1o topography and does not include contours,
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Vegetation

Photographic documentation of the period shows only that the plantings made during the
construction period were growing and, in some cases, maturing. The 1945 Map of Denison Park
does not include plant materials to compare and analyze, leaving no clues to any additions or
alterations that may have occurred during this period.213

Spatial Organization

The spatial organization of the park under went its first major metamorphosis during this
period. There was an effort to reorganize and bring many of the features and attractions closer
together. The addition of the tennis courts, softball field, swimming pool, bath house, pavilion,
horseshoe pits and the tool house created an entirely new dimension to the parks usage. These
structures acted as a new section within the eastern central region of the park. This focal point of
usage and attention was equally offset by the western central region's re-definement as a
playground. These two spaces filled the open space that was previously surrounding the
outfields of the baseball field. During the latter part of the period the majority of the park's usage
was focused into the central region of the park. This is not to say that the other regions went
without use. However, the main elements were compressed into a smaller space to allow for
better views, vistas and open space. This, for example, left plenty of available space for the
many campers who visited Denison Park during this period. The other sections of the park
included the northwestern wading pool area, the southern central bandstand/gazebo and fountain
area, and the surrounding lake and island area which covered the southwestern, southern and
eastern boarder areas.

Circulation

Minor additions to the existing circulation system occurred during this period. The
existing main carriage and pedestrian paths were expanded by the addition of a few new roads
and walking trails. The roads and paths created access loops that enclosed the central regions of
the park. The park's access loops were connected to the entrances at Park Avenue and East
Market Street. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Figure 2.17: Denison Park, circulation, 1911-1945 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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Buildings and Structures

Sandbox

In 1917, a sandbox was installed in the play ground area east of the southwestern park
road’s northern half. The rectangular structure was 10 feet in width and 15 feet in length. All
other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Lates Pih

A very large open air pavilion was erected almost due south of the baseball diamond in
1917. Located in the center of the park, the wooden rectangular structure measured 75 feet in
length and 60 feet in width. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown.

Memorial Gateway

The Memorial Gateway, designed by James Walker, an architect from Buffalo, New
York, was dedicated on May 30, 1919. The gateway was erected above the main entrance to the
park, which was off of Conhocton Street, south of the city's pump station. The existing Walker
design sketch illustrates an arched gateway. However, the built gateway had a lintel and post
construction. The entire base of the structure was limestone block. The twin rectangular brick
pillars, and concrete columns with limestone bases, supported the lintel. "Denison Park" was
inscribed into the lintel. Above the lintels was an ornate crest that includes the initials 'D/P'.
Above the lintel was a lower layer of limestone, a center of brick in a running bond pattern, and a
concrete molding with an overhanging cap. The main section measured 36 feet and 2 inches in

overall width and approximately 16 feet in height. The opening was 18 feet, 2 inches in width
and approximately 12 feet in height.

Besides the main section of the gateway, which the carriage path passed through, there
was a wing attached on both sides that was approximately a third of the height of the main
structure. The wings were 6 feet, 3 inches in height, 'L'-shaped and reached out 12 1/2 feet to the
sidewalk where they connected with another set of rectangular block pillars (1 foot, 9 inches
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square). The pillars on the northern side were connected by a matching wall that was 5 feet in
width and it held a bronze sign containing the parks dedication.

Erected by the citizens of Coming, New York, in memory of C. G. Denison, the father of C. L.
Denison, a true friend of Coming, whose bountiful gift made the park possible.

The rectangular sign had a bright frame, dark background and bright lettering. Ir was
mounted with four large bolts which were inside of the dark space, one in each comer.

The opposite (south) side lacked the connecting wall between the pillars, creating a
boardered entrance for pedestrians that was 5 feer in width. The tops of all of the pillars were
capped with a raised concrete piece that included an overhang just before the very top of the cap.

The two main columns had metal lighting fixtures about half way up with round white
globes. On top of the corners of the overhead section, as well as on the tops of the four outer
pillars, were planter urns.214 All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown 213

Figure 2.18: Denison Park, Memorial Gateway, facing east (CPPHS, #94.0.662).
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Tennis Courts

Two tennis courts were built in 1917. They were located to the southeast of second base
of the baseball field and were oriented northeast to southwest. Together the courts dimensions
were 80 feet in length by 78 feet in width. Individually the courts measured 35 feet in width and
80 feet in length with an 8 foot space separating the two. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Bath House

The pool's bath house was completed on October 8, 1921. The project was done by the
Comning Office Board of Public Works which was headed by William O. Drake, a civil engineer.
The bath house was located on the eastern side of the pool. The length of the bath house ran
parallel to the length of the pool. The bath house was 80 feet in length and 20 feet in width. The
center of both elevations had a pair of three foot wide double doors which opened outward. At
the center of both of the lengthwise sides of the bath house were a pair of 3 foot-wide double
doors which opened outward. The door ways were gabled with shallow peaks to match the
hipped, slightly pitched roof. The roof was also covered with shingles. (Note the floor plan).216

a3
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Figure 2.20: Denison Park, pool and bath house, facing southeast (Dimitroff Collection).
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Tool House

Almost parallel with the bath house, 80 feet to the northeast, was the tool house. The tool
house measured 15 feet in length by 15 feet in width. It was designed to match the bath house,
with the identical cedar shake outer walls and the same four sided roof with a light pitch. There
were windows on each side. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown.217

Lake Pump House

During the lake improvement project of 1927, a pump house was built in order 1o draw
water from the Chemung River to fill Denison Park’s lake. The pump house was located to the
southwest of the old Gibson Bridge, near the far entrance to the park from East Market Street.
The building consisted of two floors, a ground level entrance and a basement for the pumping
apparatus.

The exterior dimensions of the pump house were 15 feet 10 inches in length by 10 feet, 8
inches in width. The walls were 8 inches thick and made of brick. The door way was built into
the north side and the door's dimensions were 3 feet 6 inches by 7 feet 6 inches. The three
remaining walls each had a 3 foot 2 inch by 4 foot 8 inch window with a sill that was 2 feet 4
inches from the interior floor.

The building had a hipped roof with a central peak. The peak was capped with an 8 inch
ventilator, glass top, and the roof had a 1 foot 8 inch over hang. The shingle material and color
are unknown. The project was done by the-Coming Board of Public Works under William O.
Drake, the Superintendent, with H. Burdett Cleveland, from New York City, as the consulting
engineer. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,
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Bridge

Located southeast of the bath house, crossing the eastern water feature, another bridge
was built. The structure was situated 500 feet to the northwest of the concrete bridge. From the
1945 Map of Denison Park, the span of the bridge has been determined to be 50 feet. There is no

other documentation recording this particular bridge. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Boat House

The boat house was located approximately 40 feet to the east of the twin bridges that
connect the park's interior with the Park Avenue entrance. The dimensions of the building were
20 feet in length and 15 feet in width. The boat house was sited on the eastern boarder of the
western water feature, with the 20 foot side of the building facing the water. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Toilet

The toilet building was sited to the north of the main island's interior bridge and 1o the
southwest of the concrete bridge. The building was 16 feet, 1 inch in width and in length was
oriented north to south. The structure was constructed from red brick and had a men's room on

the west side and ladies’ room on the eastern side. The toilet had a hipped roof covered with dark
composition shingles,218

Playhouse

The play house was located adjacent to the eastern corner of the main intersection of the
carriage roads which stemmed from the main Park Avenue entrance. The building was oriented
with the length running north to south, From the 1947 Denison Park Alterations Map, it is
known that the play house had at least six windows and a set of doors. The building was
constructed from brick and lumber, and had a shingled, hipped roof. All other dimensions,
materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Concession Booth
Twenty feet to the southeast of the sandbox and west of the softball field a concession
booth was constructed. The booth's dimensions were 15 feet in length by 15 feet in width. It

was oriented with its side parallel to the carriage path. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Softball Field

A softball field existed during this period and it was located 60 feet northwest of the large
pavilion. The field was oriented south to north so that home plate and second base were nearly
in line with the baseball diamond, which was across the field. The diamond was 60 feet long.
Whether or not the softball field had a backstop is unknown. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Concrete Bridge
The concrete bridge remained unaltered during this period.
Brid Rusti

The four rustic bridges, the first two providing entrance from Park Avenue and the other
small twin bridges connecting the large southern island with the park's mainland, were unaltered
during this period.219

Located southeast of the bath house, crossing the eastern water feature, was another
bridge. The structure was situated 500 feet to the northeast of the concrete bridge. From the
1945 Map of Denison Park, the span of the bridge was determined to be 50 feet and the width
was approximately 10 feet. Since there is no other documentation recording this particular
bridge, all other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.220

Tower

The tower west of the concrete bridge remained unaltered during this period.22!
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Gazebo/Bandstand

The gazebo/bandstand was located on the 1945 Map of Denison Park. It was located
approximately 200 feet to the northwest of the concrete bridge. Two concentric circles are
shown on the map, the inner being 80 feet in diameter, and the outer being an additional 20 feet
in width. It is not known whether or not the gazebo/bandstand structure was altered or removed
past 1913 when it last appeared in a photograph. All other dimensions, materials, specifications
and characteristics are unknown.

Pavilion (On Island)

The pavilion that was sited just off center, to the south, on the southern island, remained
unaltered during this period.

Ball Field
The ball field remained unaltered during this period.
Horseshoe Pits

Located 40 feet to the south of the sofiball diamond and 20 feet to the southwest of the
pavilion was a horseshoe pit. The pit's dimensions were 40 feet in length by 40 feet in width.
All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Basketball Court

Located to the east of the baseball field was a basketball court. All other dimensions,
materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Site Engineering Systems

The levee, as constructed during the 1907-1910 period, remained unaltered diring this
period.
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Furnishings and Objects

Bollards

The original wooden bollards are known to have existed until 1915 when they appeared
in photographs. The 1945 Map of Denison Park does not make any references to their existence.
Whether or not they remained through the latter part of the period is not known.

Blay Equipment

The play equipment remained in its original location until 1915. The exact date when the
equipment was moved is unknown. The equipment is shown on the 1945 Map of Denison Park
as being relocated to the western central section, which is to the southwest of the baseball
diamond. The equipment included basketball courts, a 40 foot long swing set, a 30 foot long
slide, a 30 foot long swing set, a may pole set in a 15 foor diameter ring, a volleyball court, a
large combination slide and swing set (40 foot slide, and 60 foot swing set) and a 10 foot wide by
15 foot long sandbox (refer to the Buildings and Structures section). The playhouse was
included in the playground and can be referred to under Buildings and Structures. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,

Figure 2.22: Denison Park, major slide in playground (Dimitroff Collection).
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Benches

Benches of the original style that were installed remained during the 1911-1945 period.
The 1945 Map of Denison Park does not include them but photographs of the pool and bath
house from the 1920's show the benches.

Elag Pole

Located to the northeast of the play equipment was a flag pole. It was 180 feet from the
first base baseline of the ball field in the southwestern direction. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Eence

There was a 220 foot long fence which started from the rear corner of the playhouse and
ran parallel with the road, approximately 8 feet past the sandbox, at which point the fence made a
right angle turn and continued northeast for 40 feet. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Water Features

Children's Wading Pool

The wading pool remained unaltered during this period. From historical photographs, the
pool seemed to be well used by park visitors and was probably a major attraction during hot
summer days.222

Merital Gt Eodial

In 1912, a small, 5 foot in diameter fountain was installed. The concrete fountain had
four vertical plaques, equidistant from one another. The basin of the fountain was concrete while
the outer wall was made up of twenty terra-cotta ornate stones. There were five stone sections
between each plaque panel and they each measured 1 foot, 5 inches in width and 1 foot, 8 inches
in height. The 4 panels measured 1 foot, 9 inches in width. The base diameter of the fountain
was 11 feet.22? All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Presented 1o the City of Coming, 1912

Mayor F. A, Ellison

Board of Public Warks, J. D. Carlton, 5. E. Quakenbush, S. L. Smith

Figure 2.23: Denison Park, remains of fountain (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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The original swimming pool, donated by Charles L. Denison, was built in 1919, The
concrete pool measured 120 feet in length and 40 feet in width. The depth of the pool is
unknown. The pool was boardered by a raised rectangular edge that measured 1 foot in width
and approximately 10 to 12 inches in height with a rounded, formed top outer lip. The entire
pool was surrounded by a concrete walk that measured 5 feet in width. The pool area was raised,
although the pool itself was in the ground. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown,24

Figure 2.24: Denison Park, pool and bath house, facing northeast (CPPHS, #94.0.661).
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Lake

In 1927, the park's major water feature was improved. Charles L. Denison made a
generous donation in order to build a park lake that would alleviate the drainage problems that
were caused from the park site's history as a swamp. The construction of a pump house
(describing under Buildings and Structures) and its corresponding pipe system allowed the
original swales that covered the eastern, southern and western sections of the park to be filled
and maintained at a constant level.

Due to stagnation, mosquitoes infested the park from breeding in the lake. In the fall of
1939 a large section of the western wing of the lake was filled in an attempt to alleviate the
problem. The area which was filled eliminated the islands from the western section of the water
feature. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Figure 2.25: Denison Park, approximate lake configuration, pre 1939 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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Figure 2.26: Denison Park, approximate lake configuration, post 1939 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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PERIOD 3

RECONSTRUCTION OF DENISON PARK
1947-1972

Plans pertaining to Period 3, Denison Park:
Proposed Swimming Pool, by Joseph A. Connell, 1970.
Topographical Layout, by Ward and Moore, 1959,
FPlayground Area of Denison Park, by Supt. of Dept. of Public Works, 1947.

Denison Park Alterarions Required by Stare Highway Construction, by Richard C. Ward,
1947.

Topography

The ropographical form of Denison Park once again was not recorded. The 1947 Denison
Park Alterations Map makes no references to contours or spot elevations. The only recorded
alterations to the topography were made with reference to the lake, The center of the eastern
wing and the tip of the western wing were both filled and re-graded.225 (Note the Water
Features section for information regarding the lake)

Vegetation

A complete planting plan is not known to exist for this period of Denison Park'’s history.
However, there is a partial planting plan for the southern central section included in the 1947
Playground Area, Denison Park Plan and the 1959 Topographic Layout Plan which included a
partial planting plan for the northern central section.226

The southern central section is the area in which the fountain and gazebo/bandstand were
located. The vegetation, for the most part, was very scattered but there was a concentration
along the park road’s boarder that ran south and then bent to the east. Both sides of the old road
that ran in a curvilinear fashion, south, near the east boarder, were lined with large trees. Along
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the park side of East Market Street was a hedge that was approximately 2 feet in width. The
hedge ran the entire northern length of the park, only breaking at the entrances. The area where
the fountain stood (memorial garden) was barren, possibly to provide unobstructed views to the
fountain and memorial garden, as it was marked. Horse Chestnut is the dominant species found
in this area and sizes ranged from 2 to 24 inches in trunk diameter. There were also many 5 to 30
inch Maples, several 12 to 14 inch Pines, and numerous unspecified shrubs. Several other
species existed, possibly as specimen trees, on the plan. They included a 32 inch Silver Maple
south of the fountain, a 60 inch Weeping Willow to the southeastern corner, an 8 and 12 inch
Birch south of the Weeping Willow, near the intersection, a 47 inch Poplar to the south of where
the bandstand once stood and a 36 inch Elm along the road to the southeast. There were many
other large trees on the plan but they were not identified.

The 1959 Topographical Layout Plan of the northern central section is part of an
incomplete survey done by Ward and Moore of Corning. The plan includes the area surrounding
the pool and bath house to the north, east and west, and south of the structures was the new
highway/bridge. Along East Market Street on the park's northern most boundary were a row of
Elms with trunks ranging from 15 to 20 inches in diameter. There were a few 8 to 20 inch
Maples and 18 to 20 inch Box Elders mixed in among the screen of street trees. On the opposite
(south) side of the sidewalk bordering East Market Street were a variety of 8 to 12 inch Box
Elders, 6 to 40 inch Elms and 6 to 15 inch Maples. Shrubs of unmarked varieties were located
throughout the area.

The park road that ran south from East Market Street, past the east side of the pool house,
was lined with predominately Elms with an occasional Maple or Box Elder. The area to the east
of the park road, where the pavilion was relocated, was randomly planted with more of the same.
There were a few other species listed including White Birch, Maple and Box Elders,
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Spatial Organization

The park’s spatial organization underwent major changes with the construction of the new
highway/bridge. Until the construction began late in 1947 the park remained as it had been
during the prior period. Once the project was started the park's features were relocated or
destroyed and separated by a four lane highway and bridge system that literally severed the park
into two halves. Since 1950, with the completion of the highway, the park, for all intents and
purposes, became two separate parks. From this point forward, the parks organization is
presented as the north and south halves.

£AST *‘IAM -'L E-_rlL?A

I NORTH
- HALF

'\\
“-""‘"--..._____.

7

Vs

Tar‘ilgnnr.-rohﬁﬂﬂlﬁ'_' L

Figure 2.30: Denison Park, division of park after highway construction (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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The consolidation of elements, which had taken place during the 1911-1945 phase, was
reversed. The major features were not only separated by the highway/bridge, but they were
relocated some distance from one another. This movement obstructed much of the open space
that was not covered in water. Almost all of the circulation patterns were altered to deal with this
new concept and some of the lake's western upper and eastern middle wings were filled. Nearly
all of the views and vistas that were created with the open space of the prior period were blocked
out by the highway/bridge. All major viewsheds were from the northwest to southeast and vise
versa.

The splitting of the park had separated the major uses and users of the park. The ball
field, swimming pool, horseshoe pits, basketball courts and picnic area within the northern
section were more attractive to middle school and high school children, adults and families with
older children. The playground, walking paths around the lake and picnic areas of the southern
section were more attractive to families with younger children and older adults.

Circulation

The circulation patterns were redefined after the bisection of Denison Park. Many of the
old carriage paths were replaced with new and different roads. The main park roads were all
rerouted to connect 1o the original park entrances. The vehicular connection to the two sides of
the park was through a new vehicular underpass along the eastern boarder. Footpaths replaced
several of the old carriage paths since the routes were now inappropriate for vehicular usage.
New footpaths were connected to the main roads surrounding the park, including East Market
Street, Conhocton Street and Park Avenue, to allow access from the surrounding neighborhoods
without mixing people with automobiles on the main park roads. Pedestrian connection to the
two sides of the park was through two pedestrian underpasses.

By 1959, there was a parking area constructed to the east of the bath house, but the exact
date of construction is unknown. It was approximately 3000 sq. feet in size. However, it had a
very odd shape and it is difficult to calculate the number of vehicles the lot could
accommodate. 22’  All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.
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Figure 2.31: Denison Park, circulation plan, 1947-1972 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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Buildings and Structures
Memorial Gateway
The Denison Park Memorial Gateway was relocated from its original position at the

Conhocton Street park entrance to a new site southwest of the children's wading pool along Park
Avenue, There were no known alterations made to the structure itself.

Play House

The play house was dismantled and moved 860 feet southeast of its original location.
The site was south of the memorial fountain and north of the center of the lake's western finger.
The building was redesigned according to the 1947 Denison Park Alterations Plan and rebuilt
utilizing much of the salvaged material from the original. The new play house was constructed
on a concrete foundation and floor and included lighting, The wooden play house was 20 feet
long and 15 feet wide. The front had a double set of inward swinging 2 1/2 foot by 7 foot doors.
Windows were located on each side of the doors, measuring 4 feet 10 inches wide by 4 feet 3
inches high. The sides of the structure each had a matching window and the back had two
matching windows. The building had a hipped roof and was covered with composition
shingles.228 All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Tennis Courts

The two original tennis courts remained unaltered according to the 1947 Denison Park
Alterations Plans. However, on the modified prints dated February 18, 1958, obtained through
the Corning Department of Public Works, the tennis courts were crossed out.229 All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown,

Concession Stand

The concession stand was moved intact from its original location to a new location 80
feet northwest of the swimming pool. The stand was placed on a new 30 foot 2 inch concrete
slab that included lighting.230 The stand was centered upon its new foundation leaving a 7 foot
wide walk around the structure. On the 1959 Topographical Layout Plan, the concession stand is
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remarked as a tool shed.23! All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.

Horseshoe Pit

The original horseshoe pits were removed and new pits were constructed east of the
southern point of the lagoon. Two sets of pits were built 20 feet apart from one another. The
individual pits were 10 feet apart within each set. The pits were constructed with 6 foot wide by

6 foot long concrete walls around each 1 inch diameter iron stake. 232  All other dimensions,
materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Softball Field
The original softball field was removed during the reconstruction. The softball field was
incorporated into the baseball field to the north, through the addition of a reduced size diamond

within the baseball diamond. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown.

I Pavil

The large open air pavilion was dismantled and removed from its original location and
relocated south of the new horseshoe pits and east of the southern tip of the lagoon along the
eastern park road. The pavilion was reconstructed to new specifications that included a set of
interior walls that housed a bathroom facility, lighting, wiring and gas piping inside of the
building. The new reinforced, 39 foot 5 inch wide by 47 foot 5 inch long concrete floor was
supported with sixteen 2 foot square concrete piers below each wooden column of the structure
was constructed.

The sixteen wooden columns supported the trusses of the four sided roof. The roof was
covered with beveled siding and the 3 foot 6 inch high perimeter walls were finished with five
horizontally mounted 2 x 6's anchored 1o 4 x 4 posts, with a 2 x 8§ angled cap. The pavilion had
an overall height of 22 feet from finished floor level to the ridge line, with 12 feet of interior
head room.233  All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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New Pavili

A new open air pavilion was located to the southwest of the concrete bridge and toilet
building along the lake. This pavilion was designed using salvaged and new materials. The
structure was built upon a 60 foot by 30 foot reinforced concrete slab with 2 foot square concrete
piers beneath each of the 16 columns. The entire structure stood 22 feet in height and had 12 feet
of interior head room. A hipped roof, common to Denison Park's buildings, was utilized and
covered with composition shingles. The pavilion's side walls were 3 feet 6 inches in height and
were covered with 6 inch beveled siding. The pavilion had electric lighting.234  All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Underpasses - Pedestrian

The construction of the new highway/bridge bisecting the park made it necessary 1o
provide pedestrian access from one half of the park to the other. Two 100 foot long 10 foot wide
arched underpasses were built under the road bed. Each tunnel was faced with a random cut buff
sandstone arch with a keystone. The facade; which extended out to both sides of the openings,
were faced with the same stone.

The first of the underpasses was located in the northern central section, northeast of the
First Street entrance off of Park Avenue and west of the baseball diamond. The second
underpass was northeast of the Second Street entrance from Park Avenue and west of the
swimming pool. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Figure 2.32: Denison Park, pedestrian underpass (MSRA)
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Underpass - Vehicular

The construction of the highway/bridge also made it necessary to provide vehicular
access to the two halves of the park. A 100 foot long by 40 foot wide underpass was constructed.
The underpass was located northeast of the concrete bridge. The bridge abutments were faced
with cut buff sandstone, like the pedestrian underpasses. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Toilet

The toilet building remained unaltered during this period.
Pavilion (On Island

The island pavilion remained unaltered during this period.
Boat House

The boat house remained unaltered and appears in its original location on the 1947
Plan.235 However, the boat house was removed or destroyed later in the period. The exact date
of demolition is unknown.

Shelters with Fireplaces

Prior to the construction of the highway/bridge, two 20 foot long by 10 foot wide shelters
were installed along the southwestern bank of the lake. The date when these two shelters were
constructed is unknown. The shelters were spaced approximately 380 feet from one another with
the first shelter sited west of the new pavilion and the second being west of the island's pavilion.

Both structures were to include a fireplace. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown,236
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Figure 2.33: Denison Park, vehicular underpass (MSRA)



Sandbox

The original sandbox was relocated along with the other playground equipment. The new
location was east of the western finger of the lake, within the southern central section of the park.
The 1947 Denison Park Alterations Plan called for the sandbox to be dismantled and re-erected
on the new site. The exact location within the new playground's parameters is not known. All
other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Bath House

The original bath house remained unaltered during the reconstruction of Denison Park,
after the highway/bridge was complete. However, on July 30, 1970, Joseph A. Connell, an
architect, completed a proposed set of drawings for the new bath house and pool. In 1972, the
original bath house and pool were demolished and the new bath house and pool were constructed
and paid for through a New York State Parks and Recreation Grant.

The new bath house was shaped in an 'L’ pattern and was composed of interlocking
rectangular forms with flat roofs. The new pool is described under Water Features. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Basketball Courts

The basketball courts located west of the baseball diamond remained unaltered during
this period.237

Brdges

The original wooden, rustic foot bridges, providing access to the island, remained
unaltered during the construction of the highway/bridge. However, the other two bridges that
originally provided access from Park Avenue to the park’s interior were demolished. 238 The
exact date of demolition is unknown.

Concrete Bridge

The concrete bridge remained unaltered during this period.
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Tower

The tower remained unaltered during this period.239

Shed

A 13 foot by 13 foot tool shed was built just north of the bath house some time between
1947 and 1959, the exact date is unknown. The shed was not located on the 1947 Denison Park
Alterations Plan but was located on the 1959 Topographical Layout Plan, indicating that it was
constructed after the highway/bridge was complete. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown,240

Site Engineering Systems

The original levee was added to during the reconstruction of Denison Park. The
extension branched from the original levee, east of the southern foot bridge, to the island, and ran
northeast in a ‘D' shape until it met the original levee again, north of the new vehicular underpass.
This 250 foot extension to the east was designed to make space for the sewage treatment plant.
The new extension was called a "ring levee". All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown.24!

Furnishings and Objects

Drinking Fountai

There were several drinking fountains marked on the plans between 1947 and 1972. The
1947 Denison Park Alterations Plan located one 40 feet north of the upper, western corner of the
new horseshoe pit. The 1957 Topographical Layout Plan located two handicap fountains, one
260 feet southeast of the fountain in the Memorial Garden, and the other on the south side, to the
right of the second (castern) pedestrian underpass. The 1959 Plan showed two drinking
fountains. One was located 90 feet northeast of the concession stand and the other was located
130 feet northwest of the eastern pavilion. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown.
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Play Equipment

The entire set of original playground equipment was dismantled and relocated during the
reconstruction of the park. The new location chosen was east of the western finger of the lake,
within the southern central section. The area delineated on the 1947 Denison Park Alterations

Plan for the new site was 210 feet in length and 70 feet in width. The locations of the individual
pieces within the new parameters is unknown.

Elag Pole

The flag pole was located 40 feet west of the concession stand, on the 1959
Topographical Layout Plan. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown.242

Eire Hydrants
The 1947 Playground Area Plan locates a fire hydrant 60 feet west of the second
pedestrian underpass. The 1959 Plan locates another hydrant 50 feet northwest of the upper

(north) corner of the pool.?4? All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown.

Eire Places
The 1959 Topographical Layout Plan locates two fire places east of the eastern pavilion,

one of which was 100 feet to the northeast and the other was 50 feet to the southeast. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.244

Chain Link F

The addition of the highway/bridge in Denison Park made it necessary to fence off the
highway from the path. Two chain link fences were constructed. They were located on each
side of the highway/bridge throughout the park, only breaking at the underpasses. The 1947
Denison Park Alterations Plan also included a 300 foot chain link fence, across the western
boarder (along the road) of the new playground area. A fence was also constructed around the
pump station, although it is not within the boundaries of Denison Park.
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By 1959, a chain link fence was erected around the swimming pool and bath house. It
measured 175 feet on the western side where it met the southern highway/bridge boarder fence.
It followed the highway/bridge fence to the east for 170 feet, then continued north for 110 feet
where it made a right angle to the gate to the bath house. The fence continued from the
northeastern corner of the bath house for 35 feet and made a right angle and headed west 1o close
with an additional 70 feet of fence.245  All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown.

Water Features
M ial Garden F :

The fountain was located on the 1947 Playground Area Plan but it was not shown on the
1947 Denison Park Alterations Plans. The fountain exists today in its original location, however
it is in disrepair and is filled with s0il.2¥6 When it fell into disrepair is unknown.

Children's Wading Pool

The children's wading pool was not affected by the construction and remained unaltered
through the early part of this period according to the 1947 Denison Park Alterations Plans. The
wading pool does not appear on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey of Denison Park, so
it can be assumed that the pool was filled some time in the latter part of the 1947-1972 period. It
is not known whether the basin still exists. The exact dates and reasons for it are unknown.

Swimmine Pool

The original swimming pool remained unaltered during the early part of the 1947-1972
period. By 1959, a fence had been constructed around the pool. In 1970, a new pool was
proposed. In 1972, the new pool and bath house were erected. Note the Buildings and
Structures section as the pool and bath house were now one unit and are described under that
feature heading which also includes illustrations.
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Lake

During the reconstruction of Denison Park, two major sections of the lake were filled.
The upper wing of the western portion of the lake was filled, between First Street and Second
Street. The eastern wing was also filled in starting approximately 200 feet north of the concrete
bridge and continuing to west of the new horseshoe pits. The lake area north of the horseshoe
pits was cut off and became a separate lagoon.

During the latter part of the 1947-1972 period, the lagoon and remainder of the western
wing were filled. Around the same time a small 80 foot diameter island, west of the main island,
was constructed. The exact dates and planning behind these projects are not known.247 All other

dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Figure 2.36: Denison Park, small island, facing west (Dimitroff Collection).
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Figure 2.37: Denison Park, plan of lake (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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PERIOD 4

DENISON PARK
1973

Plans pertaining to Period 4, Denison Park:
Boundary and Topographic Survey, by Ward and Moore, 1973.

Topography

The topography was recorded on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey in spot
elevations and one foot contour intervals. This is the first complete topographic survey of the
park found during the research for this report.

The northern half of Denison Park generally had a gently sloping topography. The far
northwestern corner had a small oval shaped hill that rose 6 feet from the rear of the baseball
backstop. The pool area was also approximately 2 feet higher than its surroundings. The eastern
side of the park road in the northern section of the park sloped from the road to the center of the
area and rose again, creating a slight depression where the lagoon once was. The eastern boarder
was formed with the original levee that rose 13 feet above the park with a mean slope of 35%.
The southern edge of the northern section rose an average of 2 1/2 feet to meet the boarder of the
highway/bridge zone with an average slope of 20%. The southern half of Denison Park also had
a generally gentle sloping topography. A majority of the park's open spaces (i.e. baseball field,
playground area) were relatively flat. Aside from the levee, the lake area had the steepest sloping
topography of the whole southern half. The average slope of the lake's boarder was 20% with an
average 3 foot drop to the water level. The southern corner of the levee rose an average of 6 feet
with an average slope of 13%. The eastern boarder levee was not completely shown. The
average slope of the area of the eastern boarder that was shown was 17%.
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Vegetation

The 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey of Denison Park did include the park's
vegetation. Unfortunately, not all of the trees were identified although the size of most was
recorded. None of the shrubs on the plan were identified. However, most of them were
measured.

The northern half of the park contained a variety of deciduous shade trees and a few
shrubs. Along the sidewalk of East Market Street were a 28 inch diameter Elm, a 26 inch
diameter Ash, a 29 inch diameter Silver Maple and two 12 inch diameter Maples. A portion of
the hedge along the sidewalk still remained. On the west side of the entrance was a 60 inch
diameter silver maple. The park road was lined with predominately 30 inch to 40 inch diameter
Silver Maples, a couple of 8 inch to 24 inch diameter Red Oaks and a few 12 to 36 inch diameter
Basswoods. The western side of the park, near the baseball field, had only a few scattered trees.
They included a 24 inch diameter Maple, a 55 inch diameter Silver Maple and a 24 inch diameter
Horse Chestnut.

East of the park road, in the pavilion area, were 4 inch to 12 inch diameter Hawthorns, 6
inch 1o 30 inch diameter Ashes, 4 inch to 6 inch diameter Maples, 18 inch to 60 inch diameter
Black Willows, 5 inch to 30 inch diameter Red Oaks, a 48 inch diameter Sycamore, a 14 inch
diameter Birch, a 36 inch diameter Basswood and a 24 inch diameter Horse Chestnut. These
species were mixed and in no particular pattern. The mixture included a few other unidentified
trees of various sizes.

The southem half of the park contained many of the same species as the northern section.
The western area, before the eastern pedestrian underpass, had many unidentified shrubs. The
area also included a few 12 inch to 14 inch diameter Spruce, 2 inch to 18 inch diameter Ash, 12
inch to 14 inch Hawthorns, 6 inch to 8 inch diameter Red Oaks and a 36 inch Horse Chestnut.
Near the eastern pedestrian underpass were several Ash ranging from 3 inches to 36 inches in
diameter, 27 inch to 30 inch diameter Horse Chestnut and a 24 inch diameter Basswood.

The playground area was mixed with 36 inch diameter Black Locust, 6 inch diameter
Dogwood, 18 inch to 24 inch diameter Black Cherry, 26 inch to 48 inch diameter Black Willow,
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48 inch diameter Box Elder, 48 inch diameter Oak, 28 inch diameter Norway Maple, 20 inch to
36 inch diameter Ash, 36 inch diameter Horse Chestnut and 26 inch diameter Basswood. As in
the other areas there were some unidentified shrubs and trees.

The area south of the park road, before the lake, was sparsely planted, due to the lake
occupying the area until late in the previous period. There were several varieties and they
included a 4 inch diameter Ash, a 36 inch diameter Box Elder, a 12 inch diameter Birch, a 39
inch diameter Black Willow, 8 inch to 16 inch diameter Hawthorns, 2 inch to 32 inch diameter
Maples, a 14 inch diameter Basswood and an Oak of an unspecified size.

The northwestern side of the lake had a 36 inch diameter Box Elder, 30 inch diameter
Red Oak, two 30 inch diameter Horse Chestnuts, an 18 inch diameter Blue Spruce, a 24 inch
diameter Maple, a 12 inch diameter Willow, a 26 inch diameter Chestnut Oak and several
unidentified shrubs. The south side of the lake was predominately Willows, ranging from 4
inches to 60 inches in diameter. The eastern side had a 26 inch diameter Maple, a 54 inch
diameter Willow and an 18 inch diameter White Birch. To the northeast of the lake was a 12
inch diameter Cottonwood, 26 inch diameter Maple, a 30 inch diameter Black Locust and many
more species that were unidentified. Northeast of the 1909 bridge were three Ash, two were 26
inches in diameter and the other was 28 inches in diameter.

The large island was lined with Willows ranging from 12 inches to 48 inches in diameter.
The island also had several Hawthorns that were between 6 inches and 12 inches in diameter and
a couple Maples that were between 3 inches and 24 inches in diameter, A few other trees were
located but they were unidentified.

The small island was covered with several unidentified shrubs, a 3 inch diameter Elm and
two 28 inch diameter Black Willows.

Spatial Organization

The spatial organization of Denison Park remained unaltered during this period.
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Circulation

The circulation remained unaltered from the previous period except for the redesign of
the parking area for the new pool. The pool's new parking area was a rectangular, 65 foot by 110
foot lot. A circular drop off area was also added to the front of the bath house, 248

Figure 2.48: Denison Park, circulation plan, 1973 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994),
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Buildings and Structures

Memorial Gateway

The memorial gateway remained unaltered during this period. 24

...".""’-__ '\.t ?‘_‘r:.._ ;

Lot 3

Figure 2.49: Denison Park, Memorial Gateway (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994),
n a -P
The two pedestrian underpasses remained unaltered during this period. 250

Underpass - Vehicular

The vehicular underpass remained unaltered during this period.
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Figure 2.50: Denison Park, pedestrian underpass, facing north (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).

e e o 1 i ity O T

Figure 2.51: Denison Park, pedestrian underpass, facing northeast (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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Figure 2.52: Denison Park, pool and bath house, facing south (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).

Bath House and Pool

The bath house and pool remained unaltered during this period.

Small Pavilion

A small rectangular pavilion was added to the northern half of the park, approximately
250 feet northeast of the pool. The building measured 20 feet in width and 30 feet in length.
The date of its construction and all other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown,251
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Figure 2.53: Denison Park, large pavilion. facing northeast (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994),

Laree Pavilion

The large pavilion was located on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey. It is
unknown if the building was altered since the only information available was the footprint on the
plan, which matches the original dimensions.

Well House

The 1973 Survey located a 10 foot wide by 14 foot long structure labeled "Well House'.
While it is labeled well house there is no other existing informartion to verify this. It was located
approximately 210 feet northwest of the Second Street entrance. The walls of the structure were
made of brick and it sat upon a concrete foundation. The roof was flat and made of concrete.
The date of its construction is unknown.252
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Figure 2.54: Denison Park, Playhouse, facing southeast (MSRA).
Plav House

The children's play house remained unaltered during this period, although the survey
labels it as a brick building.?53

Sandbox

The sandbox was located on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey within the new

playground area. It was located approximately 110 feet to the east of the play house.?%¢
Concrete Bridge

The concrete bridge was located on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey and

remnained unaltered.
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Figure 2.55: Denison Park, Bridge and Tower, facing northwest (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994),
E ri itmen

A foot bridge abutment was located on the northern edge of the new small island. No
bridge was located, just the abutment. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown, 253

Toilet

The toilet building remained unaltered during this period.256
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Figure 2.56: Denison Park, Pavilion, facing south (MSRA).
New Pavilion
The new pavilion remained unaltered during this period.

Tower

The tower remained unaltered during this period.257
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Figure 2.57: Denison Park, Tower, facing south (MSRA),

Site Engineering Systems

Retaining Walls

The 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey locates two small retaining walls. The first
was located approximately 240 feet southeast of the concrete bridge. The other was located
approximately 80 feet to the southeast of the large island. The walls were approximately 10 feet

in length. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.
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Manhole Structure

There was a concrete manhole structure located in the southern most corner of Denison
Park. The outer diameter was 20 feet while the internal rectangle measured 7 feet in width and
10 feet in length. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown,

Unknown Structure

A 2 1/2 foot in diameter concrete structure was located off of center on the large island.
All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Concrete Ditch

The 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey located a concrete ditch of an unknown
length and depth. It was located on the south side of the vehicular underpass and lead run-off
water to the tip of the lake's eastern wing. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown.

Head Wall

There were two head walls located on the southern half of the 1973 Boundary and
Topographic Survey. One of the head walls was located approximately 120 feet to the west of
the vehicular underpass. The other head wall was located approximately 150 feet to the
southeast of the concrete bridge. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown,

Levee

The levee remained unaltered during this period. 258

Furnishings and Objects
Chain Link F

The two fences bordering the highway/bridge remained unaltered during this period.
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Figure 2.58: Denison Park, Border Fence, South Half, facing southeast (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).

1B

The 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey located a backstop for the baseball field in
the northern half of the ball field area, approximately 150 feet to the southwest of the East
Market Street entrance. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.

Light Pole Base

A brick light pole base was located along the west side of the East Market Street
entrance. The base was two offset squares with sides that were approximately 4 feet each. The
squares were attached at the lower right corner of the first and upper left comer of the second.

The date of its construction and all other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics
are unknown,
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Charcoal Grills

There were three charcoal grills located on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey.
Two of the grills were near the small pavilion in the northeastern corner of the park. One was
approximately 8 feet to the southwest of the pavilion and the other was approximately 45 feet to
the east of the pavilion. The third grill was located approximately 30 feet to the west of the large

pavilion, east of the pool. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.

Drinking F ;

The 1973 Boundary and Topographic Survey located three drinking fountains. The first
was approximately 250 feet to the north of the large pavilion. The second was approximately
140 feet to the west of the large pavilion. The third was approximately 30 feet 1o the east of the
western side of the large island, where the footbridge. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Fire Hydrants

There were four fire hydrants that were located on the 1973 Boundary and Topographic
Survey. One of the hydrants was immediately to the south of the bath house. The second
hydrant was approximately 60 feet to the southwest of the eastern pedestrian underpass. Another

hydrant was on the levee, approximately 80 feet to the east of the center of the eastern shore of
the large island. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Elagpole

A flag pole was located in the center of the old memorial garden fountain. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Play Equipment

The individual pieces of play equipment were drawn on the 1973 Boundary and
Topographic Survey. Their sizes and locations were as follows:
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Swing Sets: There were five swing sets within the play ground area of various sizes.
Included were one 23 foot long set, two 35 foot long sets, one 15 foot long set and one 30 foot
long set. The 23 foot long set was located 80 feet to the southeast of the flagpole by the fountain.
Southeast of the 23 foot long set by 90 feet was the 30 foot long set. One of the 35 foot long sets
was northeast of the sandbox by 50 feet. North of that set by 75 feet was the 15 foot long set.
The second 35 foot long set was 30 feet to the north of the children's play house. All other
dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Pipe Railing: The pipe railing for play and exercise was located approximately 70 feet to
the northwest of the children's play house. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown.

See-saw: The see-saw was located 60 feet to the north of the sandbox and was 15 feet in
length. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Monkey Bars: There was a 15 foot long set of monkey bars located approximately 110
feet to the northeast of the sandbox. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and
characteristics are unknown,

Posts: There were two 8 foot high posts located approximately 90 feet to the east of the
sand box, with 40 feet separating the two parallel posts. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown.

slide: A 25 foot long slide was located 20 feet to the northeast of the children's play
house. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are unknown.

Street Lamp Pole: A light pole was located within the playground area, 125 feet to the
northeast of the sandbox. All other dimensions, materials, specifications and characteristics are
unknown.25%

Electric Line Poles (with lights): Electric light poles were found through out the park

during the period. They lined most of the park road, branched to cover the main features and
carried electric service to many of the buildings and structures. All other dimensions, materials,
specifications and characteristics are unknown,
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Water Features
) i) Garden F :

The fountain was no longer utilized by 1973. Although the survey had the fountain
marked as a flag pole, the structure existed. It is unknown when or why the fountain fell into
disrepair.260

Figure 2.59: Denison Park, remains of Fountain, facing northwest (MSRA).
hildren's Wading P

The children's wading pool was filled with soil. It is unknown whether the basin
remained. The walkway that surrounded the pool was all that remained of the feature.261
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Figure 2.61: Denison Park, remains of walk surrounding the Wading Pool, facing southwest (K. Allen,
SUNY CESF, 19%4).

Swimming Pool
The swimming pool remained unaltered during this period.

Lake

The lake was reduced in size and its shape during this period. The western wing was
completely filled in by 1973 and the western side of the lake was squared off. The remaining
parts of the lake remained unaltered. The exact dates and reasons for the filling and reshaping of
the western section is unknown.
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Figure 2.61: Denison Park, Denison Lake, 1973 (K. Allen. SUNY CESF, 1994).
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PERIOD §

DENISON PARK
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND ASSESSMENT OF
INTEGRITY

Plans pertaining to Period 5, Denison Park:
Denison Park, by Taliaferro and Niederman, 23 August 1974.

Site Survey of Denison Park, Hunt Engineers and Architects, August 1994,

Introduction

During August of 1994 the Boundary and Topographic Survey, prepared by Ward and
Moore in 1973, was updated by Hunt Engineers and Architects. The survey locates all major
landscape features. However, it does not identify plant materials. The schedule of this study did
not provide the time necessary to complete an evaluation of the existing conditions and an
assessment of the extant character-defining features of Denison Park. However, the historic
research, the Hunt Survey and a number of site visits to the park provide the basis to offer some
initial comments on the significance and integrity of Denison Park.

Significance of Denison Park

Based on the National Register criteria for evaluating significance Denison Park may be
significant based on Criteria C. The quality of significance is present in sites "(t)hat embody the
distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or that represent the work
of a master, or that possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable
entity whose components lack individual distinction..."”

Denison Park was designed in 1906 by Harold A. Caparn (1864-1945), a prominent New
York City Landscape Architect. Research on Caparn completed for this report is not definitive.
However, it is known that Caparn had a very active practice in New York from 1902 to 1945.
His office was located at 144 East Thirtieth Street. " ... His work included school and college
grounds, parks in New Jersey and New York, the grounds of the House Office Building in
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Washington, and many private places on Long Island and in Westchester County and
Connecticut,"262

During Caparn's 43 years of professional practice he was the designer of many projects.
Among the most significant were: New York Zoological Park, Bronx, NY. (1900-1905):
Brooklyn Botanic Garden, Brooklyn, NY. (1912-1945); Brooklyn College, Brooklyn, NY.
(1937-1945); and the estates of Mrs. Ben Ali Haggin, Tannersville, NY. (no date), 263 Caparn
was also a consultant to the National Park Service.264

Caparn's work at the Brooklyn Botanic Garden was extensive. His work began in
January, 1912, and he continued as a consultant to the garden until his death in 1945. When he
began this work, "... the garden was in its preliminary stages. The design of the walks had been
done by Olmsted brothers, but from then on nearly all of the garden's features, including the
Rose Garden, the Water Gardens, the Horticultural Sections and the Systematic Section, with its
plant families in botanical sequence, were designed by Mr. Caparn,"265

Harold A. Caparn was an early and active member of the American Society of Landscape
Architects. He served on the Board of Trustees for twelve years (1907-1918). He was Treasurer
from 1909-1911, President in 1912 and Vice President from 1915-1918. He was made a Fellow
of the Society in 1908266

From the information collected on Harold A. Caparn it would seem that he and his work
are significant to the profession of Landscape Architecture. Thus, Denison Park could be
significant based on Criteria C- "...representing the work of a master..." If the park is significant
as the work of a master, then the period of significance would likely be 1906-1915. In 1906, the
park was designed and, in 1915, the park's construction was complete. (Note: All the
information collected on Harold A. Caparn during the research for this report is located in
Appendix B,)
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Integrity of Denison Park

"Integrity is the ability of a property to convey its significance."267 Assessment of
integrity is based on the condition and existence of the physical features of a property and how
they convey its significance. To evaluate and assess integrity seven aspects or qualities have
been established by the National Park Service. The seven aspects are location, design, setting,
materials, workmanship, feeling and association.

The original design plan(s) for Denison Park prepared by Harold A. Caparn were not
located during the research for this report. However, the accumulation of changes recorded in
the documents that were located during the research for this report clearly indicate that the park
has been significantly altered from its original design.268 Every character-defining feature to
some extent has been modified through removal, relocation, realignment or redesign. With the
exception of location, none of the other aspects of integrity with regard to the condition and
existence of the physical features of the park are retained. And thus the initial assessment of the
park's integrity, based on its potential significance, is that the park has lost its integrity and does
not have the ability to convey its significance.
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APPENDIX A

LANDSCAPE FEATURES AND THEIR DEFINITIONS

Topography- the inextractable framework of the landscape; the three dimensional configuration
of the earths surface characterized by configuration (ground slope, configuration of
contours, visual forms, etc.) and orientation (elevation, solar aspect, etc.) of the
landscape.

Buildings and Structures- the elements constructed in a cultural landscape primarily for
sheltering any form of human activity are buildings (houses, bams, garages, stables, etc.)
and the functional elements for purposes other than sheltering human activity are
structures (bridges, windmills, gazebos, silos, dams, etc.). Included in this category are
mechanical and engineering systems.

Mechanical Systems- the features and materials which combine to provide utility service
to the landscape (power lines, hydrants, culverts, etc.).

Site Engineering Systemns- the systems and individual fearures which provide a physically
stabilizing factor to all of a portion of the landscape (retaining walls, dikes,
foundations, etc.).

Vegetation- the individual and associated deciduous or evergreen trees, shrubs, vines, ground
covers and herbaceous materials, whether indigenous or introduced to the cultural
landscape (specimen tree, hedge, forest, orchard, bosquet, vegetable garden, agricultural
field, perennial bed, etc.).

Circulation- the spaces, features and applied material finishes which constitute the movement
systems of the cultural landscape (paths, walks, plazas, squares, roads, parking facilities,
etc.).

Spatial Organization- the structure or order of the landscape; the three dimensional organization
of physical and visual associations. The organization of elements creating the base,



vertical and overhead plane define and create spaces. The functional and visual
relationship between these spaces is integral to the character of the landscape (open
space, enclosed space, corridor space, etc.). Views and vistas are included in this
category as an element of the spatial organization.

Water Features- the built features and elements which utilize water to create thematic or aesthetic

elements within the cultural landscape (fountains, pools, ponds, lakes, cascades, canals,
streams, etc.).

Fumishings and Objects- the elements which provide detail and diversity while addressing
functional needs and aesthetic concerns in the cultural landscape (fences, benches, urns,
flagpoles, sculptures, markers, monuments, signs, etc.).



APPENDIX B

OBITUARY OF HAROLD A. CAPARN

H. A. Caparn Dead; Landscape Expert
Consultant to Botanic Garden, Brooklyn,

1912-1945, Designed Many of Its Features

Harold A. Caparn, consulting Landscape Architect to the Brooklyn Botanic Gardens from
1932 until early this year, died yesterday in the Manhattan General Hospital after a brief illness.
He resided at 230 West Fifty-ninth Street and had an office at 144 East Thirtieth Street. His age
was 81.

Born in Newark-on-Trent, England, of Welsh and English descent, he was a master at the
Cathedral School, Canterbury, and then studied at the Ecole des Beaux Arts, Paris, before
coming to New York more than forty-five years ago.

His work with the Brooklyn Botanic Garden began in January, 1912, when the Garden
was in the preliminary stages. The design of the walks had been done by Olmsted brothers, but
from then on nearly all of the Garden's features, including the Rose Garden, the Water Gardens,
the Horticultural Sections and the Systematic Section, with its plant families in botanical
sequence, were designed by Mr. Caparn.

He was also the designer of the campus of Brooklyn College, and did landscape work for
the New York Zoological Park in the Bronx, the House Office Building in Washington, D.C.,
and Lincoln Park in Newark, N.J.

Mr. Caparn designed many gardens on private estates in Long Island, Westchester
County and Connecticut. One of his best pieces of work was done at Tannersville, N. Y., for
Mrs. Ben Ali Haggin. He was long a crusader against encroachments on Central Park and other
parks in the city. Mr. Capamn protested against proposed exhibits of sculpture in Central Park,
denounced suggestions of swimming pools, and wading pools, a stadium and other features as a



memorial to the dead of the first World War and opposed ripping up a boarder of the park for
subway construction. Parks, he maintained, were things of beauty and not playgrounds or places
for commercial activities.

Mr. Capamn was a former president of the New York Chapter of the American Society of
Landscape Architects, had been vice president of the City Gardens Club and chairman of its
committee on parks and was a member of the Architectural League of New York. He had served
on the City Club's park committee. At one time he taught landscape architecture at Columbia

University.

He leaves a widow, Mrs. Clara Jones Capam; two daughters, Mrs. Johannes Steel of New
York, wife of the radio commentator and writer, and Mrs. Robert M. Moore, Jr., of New York; a
brother, Arthur Caparn, and a sister, Mrs. Annie Shackleton of Short Hills, N. J., and two

granddaughters.

(The New York Times, 25 September 1945)
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parks and was & membar of the
Architectural of New Tork.
He had served on the City Cluba
park committee.

=At one time he taught landacape
architecturs al Columbiax Univer-

He leaves a widow, Mre. Clara
Jones Caparn: two daughters, Mra
Jahannes Steel of New York, wife

o the radio commentator and
writer, and Mra. Robert M. Moors
4. of New Tork: s brother, Ar-

ur Caparn, and & alater, Mra
Annie Bhackleton of Hbort Hils,
M. s and two granddaughtars.

HAROLD R, M'NAMEE

Member of Boston Advertising
: Firm of Alley & Richards
}\ _

Harold . MacMNames, a partner
in the Alley & Richards Company,
afl advertising agency, died In the
MNewton Hospital, Nawton, Mass.,
Senday Al the age of 48

|dent at the Andover (Mass.) Theo-

!

Sprieal W Taes Xre Yonk TieLs

NEWTON, Mass.. Sept. 24—Mra.
Harriet E, Clark, widow of the Rev,
Dr. Francis E. Clark, who founded
the Christian Endeavor Soclely.
died today in the (Vernon Caurt
Holel, where she mads her home.
Her age was 94,

Known as the “Mpther of Chris-
itian Endeavor,” ‘she worked with
Ehtr husband ia 4l sections of the
world to build the soclety from &

igroup of forty boys and girls at
'g:.rum:. Me., into an organization
000.000 persons in 104 coun-
Dr. Clark diad In 1927. |

When her Rusband waa pastor|
of the Willlston Congregational|
Church In Portland In the early|
Eighteen Eighties. Mra. Clark waal
Ithe tascher of & qlass of young peo-
|ple banded together in the Mizpah
Circle, This amall group, called Lo-
‘gether on Feb. 2, |1881. by Dr.
Clark, was the begioning of the so-|
ciety to provide the “opportunity)
for self-expression by meany ofl
words and services for Christ and
chureh.™ |

This ‘movement apread rapidly:
and Mrs. Clark, as her husband’s,
first assistant, lraveled around the)
world five timea inithe interest of:
the soclety. Sbhe maintalned an
‘active interest In ita activities; at-|
tending convenlions and other|
mestinga, until three yesars Bgo.|
Since then she” has kept up cor-|
reapondence with soclety officers
and members throughout @ the)
world. vl

Mrs, Clark dlac

lalmed any credit!
in the founding of the organization,
but she had a major share in the|
.success of ths movement threugh
|her enco emant and aid,
Born in plon Falla, N, H,
she was the daughter of the Hev,
!mnd Mrs. Sersnc T. Abbott. She
met Dr. Clark when he waa & stu-

logical Seminary. They were mar-
ried on Oct. 3, 1574.

Sha leavas two sona, Prof. Har-
old Clark of Rumford, N. J. and
Bldpey A. Clark of Sagamore,
Mass., suthor and traveler, and a

apent his

board of E.Irm:'..nu. An ailment!
from which he had suffered aince
19335, and which eventually provad
& prioeipal iconlributing causs of
his death, forced his retiremant.
He purchased the Brewton Plan-
tation at ¥ see. and thereafller
tars thars; his sum-
mers at Woods Hole, Mass., -
.Mr. Bartow had bean- & vice
president and a membar of the fi-
nance ttea of ths United
Hoapital d; & troates of Roose-
valt Hoapl & mamber of the

Bowcal 18 THE N Tou Towis i
PRINCEHTON. N. J., Sept h—-:;l
Prof. Maleolm MacLaren, ckair-
man of the Department of Elec.(™
trical Enginesring at Princeton
University| for twenty-nins years
and well-known In the alectrical
industry (n this country and in|k
England, died today at Prinditon /i
Hospital. . He was T8 ysars of age.
Professor MacLaren was born in
Annapolis, Md He was the son of |d

;,"“'!I",h _ aﬂ'" f l-ht;r ﬂ;tg: the late Fear Admiral Donald C,
ew Yo . & direc |

riind Tohns-Man-| acLaren, sx;ymcmpllln. m?ﬂ
ville Co ;.Em. and the Amer- Elizabath | Green * Muc-f |
ican Ra .wnwm Ha was|Laren, member of an old Princeton

a membar gf the and Jokylfamily. |

Island Cluby, had balonged He was gradusted from Prince-| |

to
the New York Tacht, Recess, and
National Golf Links Clubas.

In May, 1008, Mr. Bartow mar-
ried Babina Redmond Martin, who|
survives; as do thres sons, Capty
Clarence |Whittamore  Bartow,
AUS, Francls D. Jr, and Phillp
Key Barthw, and a brother, the
Rev. Howsrd K Bartow of Cobas-
sab. Mass, Naw York residence Britiaa
befors his |retirement was at 87 pany in Mancheater.

East Sixty-sixth Streel, his coun- a |the post of chalrman of
try homs st Glen L. L He|the Deparment of Eleotrical Engi-
was & Republican and an at his alms matsr from

ton in 15580 and recelved = degres
in elactrigal ‘anginssring in Llﬂj
and & Master of Arls d the
following yaar. From 1893 untilj™
1808 he was associsted with the
Wes Elsctric

B

o 1008 until his retiremant n 1887,|0
i ol o e v T Tt
RT. nzvt.nmn H. ROOTS [S3TRC.ta and vt wssigred io the
Episcopal Missionary, Bishop of MEOVION 9% Sov Fran 71y

His book, “The Plss of the Elsc-
tsanth Id‘:n':un “umeum
" Waa pu
MACKIMAC IBLAND, Mich, ago. He held mambership in
Sept. 34—Ths Right Rev. Logas(ine American Institute of Electrical
Herbert Roots, for thirty-thres I
years-—misgjonary Bishop of the|
Protestant || Episcopal Church In
Hmnkow, and ginca 1538 a
leading in ths Moral Rearma
ment ent, disd today at the
age of 75.!He was attending tha
MREA world tralning center here.
Bishep Hools knew China from
the time of]the Manchus to Chiang
Kal-shek, who was his friend. In
that time he saw reballion and war,
fire, faming and flood

. Hankow for 33 Years

Tun Nrw Tosx TS

Boarn In

dun
af

n 4
afler an, IE:-II of several weaks.
His offigse was in Boston and his
remidancs st 78 Dean Road, Weston, |

awton. Another son, l
Eugene Clark of Dartmouth Col-|retary for
lege, disd several years ago. |

tar, Mras. Wihliam F. Chase
Praf.

graduated [from Harvard in 1801
and, aAfter & Year as trave Ao
Young Mén‘s Chris-
|tian Association, antersd the Epis-

Smith of

[‘!&lmlmﬂ. ., he was
win B. Blmmons of New 'I’Ul'ﬂ.‘- "

=Bormn in Watertown, Maas. K Mr.
MacNamer joined the 8mith &
Parris Advertining Agency upon
kjis discharge from the in
1019, He later served as the: New

England e tative of ths But-
terick Pu g Company,
. DWIGHT E. DEAN

Qidest Active Banker in U. 5
ﬂin-i In Connecticut at 97

"FALLS VILLAGE. Conn. Sept
4 1 —Dwight E. Dean, president

and chalrman of board of dl-
rectors of, the Watlonal Iron Bank
of this p’lﬂa and Sldest of active

American - bankerh died today
a brief lliness st the age of

g. He' had served the bank for
gbty years. :

Except for ,a holiday of thres
weeks to see the Chicago world's
fair in 1893, Mr, Dean apent his
entire Jife In Lhis vﬂhn,

" MRS. ARTHUR 3. HENRY -
Sgecial 16 TH Tons,
*SCARSDALE, MN.!Y. Sspt 14—
Mire, Giladys Dillen Henry, wifs of

Arthur J. Henry, s-justomers” bro-
kar with H Hantr & O of SNaw

MISS LEYLA GEORGIE

Actress and , Playwright Iﬂ-cll'llr
Here in 'What Price Glory? !

1

Miss Leyla Georgle, aclreas,
playwright and navellat, whe cre-|
ated the sole feminine role. Char-|
maine, in the play, “What Prics!
\Glory ?" disd on -ﬂ'l.u‘lﬂ.l.}' inm the

|West Side Hospital after a three-
iday ilinass. She lved at 240 (Cen-
jtral Park South, Her age was 39,

copal Theglogical Schoal In Cam-
bridge. He went to China almost
immediately &fter being ordained
to the te ln 1806, arriving
just at Hrat stirrings of ths
Boxer HRabelllon. Acceptsd Ioto
full 'prltlTE:d In 1808, he married

Eliza Lydiph McCook of Hartford,
Cenn, a member of tha
mlssion f, In 1902. Bhe
in 1034. h
e 3
SOL{ L. BUSCHMAN

dled

WILDER M. RICH

Municlipal IHII'II]OI‘. Had Served’
Hackensack, Other Cities

Bpaclil 1o THEN Mre Tous ToaEs.
HACKENSACK, N. I, Bept. 24,
_mup;lx'mmqmﬂ' e varions
m ar .
e homa] 100 Frompect. Avemtut
Vi
last night!at the age of 59.
Born inm Tustin, Mich., he was
uatsd from ths Univermity of
mlnn 180T as & clvil engi-

Born fn Budapest. Miss Georgie President |antt a Director of the|nser. Aftar sarving with the Unit-
was the! daughter of Mra Eliza- 3 - od Btates ﬂ?ujnut of Enginser-
:et ilumﬁrr Hlioruuf H:w! Natio M'"““ ing and q' ty mur Baul

orfk. & vocal coac &r ateape|’ Bte. Maris, Mich. Grgan-
father, Henry Major, fa » painter|, s:,ié" or?‘Thl:' :'dhtg‘::h- the City Managsr Assoclation
and cartoonist. The actress was a Corporaticn, dled in his o at/of the TUnited - Statas. Citiea he
granddaughtar of the late Bernard|yag " ywieqp ,éﬂd AveBUs yisarved in! this espacity  Inchuded
Alexander, Professor of Philoso-|sternoon hftar a long E"I. He|Baults Bts,  Marie;' Goldsbaro,
phy and Literaturs st the Univer-| " oy Leld, i M. O.; Alsxandria’ Va: Iroowood,
sity of Budapest, | | Mr, chrman had been with/Mich, and Hackensack Ha came

Miss Georgle acted hers In
t"Evensong” as well as In “What
Price Glory ! | That was In 1933,
Bhe and Gladys Unger wrote the
piay “523 An Hour” which Was
staged here In 1939, and  Misa
Georgle and Jack Hirkland | were
co-authors of “1 Must Love Some-
‘ane,”" Y& play which was on Hroad-

and Iron
Pa. and

for Campball, Phalps, Inc.,
Yo', | || ;
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NATIONAL PARKS
Ruvmond L. Freeman

The world's {5t narional park was established in 1572
when Congress designated more than two million acres in
Wrvoning as YVellowstone National Park. By the 1950
more than 3% Jiverse parks had been incorporated intae
Amuenica’s woridreaowned nanonal park svsiem. The o =
CUpt vl sUCh TeaciVes, pronteered i tRis SOUDIY was o v.-
niwant contsbution o world civilization, and other =a-
tiuas eventualy followed chis inspining model.

The kistorr of our national parks and the profession o
landscape arc=irecture have long been intertwined Todav
abour 200 lar.2scape architects have a vital role in prov:d-
ing stewardship for many of our nation’s most cherishy
ratural and colieral resourees throuch the Natona! P«
e U8 Deparimie st of she [Rtersor

In 130= Prosident Abraham Lincoin sivmed legisiatios
seizing aside the mavmincent Yosemite Vallev and Mur-
pusd Big Trew Sroves to be held by che seare of Cainors
tur ~ public use, resort and recreation nalienabie for ai;
tume.” Frederick Law Olmsted was appoinced a commis-
sioner for these reservations and supervised the preparation
ol an influenti:l report for thewr administracion. In addizon
to i <killrel 2lan tor managine ohis park, he advocas d
puitcy ui vstazishing nanonal parks across the natiun Ao
lad tze founcation for our cwrrent national park svsces

To :ill the ne2d for a separate division o oversee thes
parks. the secsatary of the interior in 1910 recommends:
creating a Burzau of Nauonal Parks and Resorts spesisizal
to employ landscape archirects for their expertise in pi
ning park development. Three vears later the new pos:izw
of geaenal supesinrendent of the national parks was cze-
ated. Mark Daniels, a practicing landseape architect o
Caluromig, filled this job for two years. His most sigaw:-
cant accomplishment was bringing sensitive design inw
park adminiszation and planning.

It was not ol 1916, however, that the National Park
Service was formally established. That year the annual
meeting of the American Society of Landscape Archiects
had passed a resolution supporting the Narional Park 5¢:-
vice bull. The ASLA also addressed park issues requirine
landscape arci:recrural experrise, including the delinesne™
of boundaries 11 consonance with topography and lacd
scape units and the development of comprehensive plans
for managing natural and developed areas.

Stephen Mather, the first Narional Park Service dircoi
took the ASLA recommendations to heart. He and subs.:
quentdirectors relving heavily on landscape archites- &
guding the development of the national park system.
gether wich an wray of consultanes ineluding Frederick

bt 0 P L

Law Olmsted. Ir., James Pray, Warren H. Manning, Huve- *

%  Capam and lames Greenleaf {all former ASLA presidents’
continued the accelerared work of establishing boundare:
camprrolnds =uldines, roadwavs, bridees and orqe: ot
tasihinies. Duming chis period, o National Park Service i
scape architec:, Daniel P. Hull, developed a distinctive
nomncrusive, rustic park building design, sometimes 1w
ferred o as “parkitecture.” Built in the carly 1920s, th
Ranger Club House, designed by staff landscape :I.I'C‘hll!:"-"
Charles P Puachard, Ir., for the Yosemire Nanonal ["JJF_"I"_'
Calwomia. and Hull s Administration Building, now 255
seum i the Sequota National Park in Calitormua, beeims

A
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FAX Message

National Park Service
Preservation Assistance Division
Washington D.C.

(FAX) 202-343-3803

To: Ken Allen

FAX Number: 315. 470.6540
From: Charles Birnbaum
Date: 7 June 1994

Number of pages (including cover sheet): 16

MESSAGE

Information from the Pioneer's project files on Harold A. Caparn (1864-1945) for your
use and information.

P.0.Box 37127, Washington, DC 200137127
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RHYS CAPARN

RETROSPECTIVE EXHIBITION
SCULPTURE AND DRAWINGS

BETHEL GALLERY BETHEL, CT.



July 12, 1977

questicnnaire., Togethar with some notes I have accamulated, it will
hhmﬂmﬁudﬂmnfwmm.admwmﬂym
mamrmtmafmtp:njmmmmﬁuﬁ;ﬂaﬂm
in Mirmeapolis in late Septectar.

It wa3 a roal plensears to see your work in Bathel and I regret that
we missed commectiona., I treasure tha book an vour work.

Sincerely,
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o Gallery ———x

gl oets egrosportive.

e talle T
preview pa y from
.. bonoring Rbys Caparn, “one of
e most 0 and experimental
sculptors of her time," to quote Rob-
ert Beverly Hale, curator emeritus
g{! thkf Metropolitan Museum of New
ot

Her retrospective show of more
than 100 pleces of sculpture and
drawings span 47 years of creative
work by this artist who lives in New-
town with her husband, Jobannes
Steel, a writer and radlo commenta-
tor.

She works outdoors, seeking new
ways to incorporate into her work
all that she sees, hears and feels,

“I gather m{u!arm: from the a
aritions of life: man, aolmals,
irds, the lines of trees, the bulk of

rocks, the shadows of ravines and
crevasses, and slope of hills under
soow, ] am Interested In the sound of
movement: the round sound of birds
beating their wings near water, the
thin sourd of wind in trees, and the
silence of flight. The bas-relief, with
its suggestions of light remains yet
almoat unexplored, 1 have used
arch not only for its symbolism of

ge, and therefore change, but

use in the midst of ruing It re.
mains at ease with nature.”

Ms, Caparn's work has been
shown or Is presented in the collec-
tions of the Litan Museumn of
New York, the toey Museum of
New York, the 5t. Louls Art Muse
um, the Corcoran Gallery, the

Museum, the Museum of
Modern Art, the Museum of Natural
History and London's Tate Gallery.
of London,

The exhibition of her work will be
at the Bethel Gallery, 188 Green-
wood Avenue, Bethel, from May 20
to June 22. :

Rhys Caparn’s Relie;



(:f/&u-—-\

June 1A, 1977

'/ . kA2

\lerpt from LANDECAPE ARCHITECTURE - A Quarterly. Vol. DXXVI-1, pp. 22,23
"ASLA NECROLOGY

’ HAROLD A CAPARN
A Biographical Minute

™, Deceaber 18, 1§64 - September 2k, 194%

Earcld ap Ruys Caparn, bora in Sevark-upon-Trent, Nottinghamshire,
of Welsh and English descent, wvas the son of a surserynan and painter.

He vas educated at the Magnus Bchool, Eevark, and st London Univer-
sity, and vas s master st the Cathedral School, Canterbury, and a studemt
at the Egole des Beaux Arts, Paris, before coming to this ecuntry. In
150k he studied architecture at Columdia University, and iz 1508 studied
at Duray's Atelier in Paris.

From 1894 to 1899 he vorked in the office and in the field -for
J. Wilkicson Elliott of Pittaburgh. In 1502 he began jprivate practice. .
During the many years that followed, his work included school and =college
grounds, parks in ¥ev York mad Fev Jersey, the grounds of the Eouse Office
Bullding in Washington, and many private places on Long Island snd in West-
chester County and Connecticut, One of his best known countiry estates vas
that of Mre. Bem All Eagginm at Tannersville, Nev York.

For pany years he vas consultent for the 3rooklyn Botanic Carden, tak-
ing over in 1912 after it had Seen laid out and graded by Olmsted Brothers.
From then on he designed nearly all of the Garden's features including the
Rose Garden, the Weter Cardens, the Eorticultural Sections, and the System-
atic Seetion,

His vritings are to be found in Garden and Porest, LANDSCAPE ARCHITEC -
TURE, Parks & Recreation, and other publications. He vrote often to the
Hew York papers cn subjects of local interest.

‘}

He vas & staunch defender of the park ides, snd particularly concernmed
Bimgelf with prevention of vhat we nev eall non-conforming uses in our parks.
He vas long s crusader against encroschments on Central Park, protesting
against proposed exhibita of sculpture in the Park, dencuncing suggestions
for adding svimming pools, s wading pool, & stadiun, and othmr features as
a memorial to soldiers lost in the first World War, and opposing the ripping
up of & border of the Park for subwvay construction.

In all bis sssociations as in his writings and many activities, Harold
Caparn vas distinguished by his problty. He expressed his ideas well and
alveys with firmness and conviction vhich vas the result of nis belief in
the artistic and social value of the profession he hed chosen.

Earcld Caparn vas early s member of the American Soclety of Landscape
Architects, having been slected as & Fellov in 1908, He held office as s
nember of the Board of Trustees for twvelve Years, first as Regiomal Trustee



{iarold A. Caparn - Excerpt from LAQ IXXVI-1, pp. 22,23)

{n 1507-08, and then as Treaswrer (1909-11), Prasident (1912), Regicoal
‘Trustee (1913-1914), sad Vice President (1913-18). Ee served on mexy
camittees a5d vas largely responsible for formulstion of the Society's
statements of Policy on matters of public interest, :

In Nev York he had served as Presideat of the Soelety's local Chapter,
as Vige President of the City Gardens (ludb end chairman of its Commiittes
on Farks, snd as meiber of the Park Committee of the City Clud. He vas s
mamber of the Architectural League of Nev York, and fur maxy years served
as Treasurer of the Natiocnal Rosdaide Coupeil. - N

e is survived by his vidow, tvo daughters, a brother and siater,
and tvo granddaughters. “oon e

C.D.L.
[Charles Downing Lay]

GAY

P.S. transcribed by GAYarwood 8/11/1580 from LAQ Jan. 11, 1911 (?) Reprt on

Prof. Practice & Charges, p. 5.

"CAPARN, H.A., 5th Ave., NYCity. Writes that he has for scme time past been prac-
ticing professicnally. Training in the practica of landscape architecture
received in office of J.W. Elliott, Pittsburg. Started in business for himself

in 1899, Has written an landscape subjects for different pericdicals. Prine
cipal works: NY Zoological Garden, 1900-1905; City Parks, Yonkers, NY., and
numarcus private places. S
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APPENDIX C

STEUBEN COUNTY COURTHOUSE IN CORNING, NEW YORK

The building is basically rectangular in plan with a small extension at the center-rear,
creating a truncated T-plan. Of two stories, the five-bay (three central and one each in flanking
wings) structure is built of cream-colored "roman" brick laid in common bond. The raised
foundation is of stone; columns, caps, bases, and keystones of the principal windows appear to
be of cast stone. The entablature and pediment are of wood; the acroteria at the apex and lower
extremities of the pediment appear to be of cast stone as well (close inspection failing). The
"Classical" belt-course, denoting the transition between the first and second floors, is noted with
projecting, dentil-like brickwork. A single-course water table projects at the base of the building.

Both the central block and flanking wings are covered with low-hipped metal roofs. A
single chimney is located in the center rear of the main block. The windows in the main block
and the wings are double-hung with six-over-six lights. They are detailed by an over-sized hey
stone and flat arches. The foundation windows, over-door light, and court chamber windows are
detailed with early twentieth-century-styled "criss-cross" grill muntins.

The facade bears a full Ionic entablature with fluted engaged Roman Ionic columns in
antae, detailed with egg and dart, bead and reel, waterleaf, and anthemion motifs. The entrance
is announced by a typical early twentieth-century neo-classical Roman Ionic columnar portico,
surmounted by acroterion (possibly of cast iron) on the pediment. Glazed double entrance doors
are framed by shouldered classical moldings, an over-door light with "x" and "o0" muntins, and a
dentiled pediment with console scrolls, detailed with anthemion motifs. The studied, elaborate
and careful detailing of the facade indicates the high design and construction standards
employed.

On the interior, architectural features display typical late neo-classical motifs of the early
twentieth-century. The ground floor bears fluted square posts with classically inspired moldings
and capitals detailed with egg and dart and rosette motifs. An open, slightly curved balustraded
stair ascends to the second floor.



The second floor vestibule is delineated with pilasters ornamented with egg and dart and
rosette bands supporting a full Ionic entablature. The entrance portico to the court room is
framed with an Ionic entablature supported with pilasters. The court room is two stories high,

the upper half opened to windows. Corinthian pilasters and a full dentiled entablature articulate
the walls.269



APPENDIX D

LIST OF CANFIELD PARK COMMISSIONERS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Canfield Park Commissioners, 1905

Amory Houghton JR.
Stephen T. Hayt

~anfield Park Citizens’ Compmitree. 1903

Valentine Rettig

George B. Bradley
James A. Drake

Thomas G. Hawkes
Chester S. Qole

Jerome B. Maltby
Austn Lathrop

Joseph J. Tully

Frank D. Kingsbury
Arthur A. Houghton
Benjamin W. Wellington
Rev. Walter C. Roberts
Rev. James M. Bustin
Rev. Alfred J. Hutton, D.D.

Rev. William H. Reese, D.D.

Rev. Paul Allen

Rev. Geo. B. Cutten, PH.D.
Rev, Walter ], Lee

Rev. John T. Cassidy

Rev. Addis Albro

Rev. Charles H. Hudson
Dr. John L. Milleil

Dr. Henry A. Argue

Dr. George W. Lane

Dr, Thomas A. McNamara
William Gorton

John W. Lynahan

Cassius G. Andrews

Quincy W. Wellington
Marvin Oloot

John H. Lang
John L. Lewis
Charles B. Wing
James M. Greig
Aaron F. Williams
Thomas E. Moran
Robert W. Temrell
John E. Bong
Maynard Allen
Morris Ansorge
John McGannon
Morris E. Gregory
Harry H. Pran
Edwin S. Underhill
John S. Kennedy
J. Towner Hayt
Albert K. Brown
George W. Fuller
Joseph C. Moore
James Hoare
Walter Egginton
George L. Abbott
J. D. Carlton
William H. Smith
James W, Shea
Fred Remmel
Frank J. Bantley

"Citizens Committee For Comning's Park," Evening Leader, 11 February 1905.
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197 Photographs used: 1907-1909 Construction of Denison Park (94.0.656), 1907-1909 Construction of Denison
Park (94.0.652), 1907-1909 Construction of Denison Park (94.0.654, View of Bandstand (94.0.655), 1907-1909
Construction of Denison Park (94.0.651). Photographs are the property and copyright of the Corning Painted-Post
Historical Society.

198 1909 Photograph View of Bandstand, property and copyright of Corning Painted-Post Historical Society
(94.0.655).

199 Photographs used: 1908-1909 Photograph of Concrete Bridge (94.0.650); 1909 Photograph of View of
Bandstand (94.0.655), property and copyright of Corning Painted-Post Historical Society.

200 Measurements made from the site visit on September 8, 1994,

201 photograph used: 1909 View of the Bandstand (94.0.655), property and copyright of the Corning Painted
Post Historical Society.

202 Photograph used: 1909 View of the Bandstand (94.0.655), property and copyright of the Corning Painted
Post Historical Society.

203 Photograph used: 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.656), property of the Corning Painted-Post Historical
Society; Map- Denison Park Alterations Required by State Highway Construction: ..., call #571; Map- Map of
Denison Park: Tracing of Map Secured from the City of Corning, call #566,

204 Although the 1945 Plan clearly marks the western set of bridges as one singular unit, it is in fact a set. The
set of (2) bridges has been clearly identified in photographic documentation owned by Tom Dimitroff, of Coming,
NY. Map of Denison Park: Tracing of Map Secured From the City of Corning. call #566.

205 The measurements came from the 1945 and 1947 Plans of Denison Park. They can be found at the
Department of Public Works, Comning, NY. (1945) Map of Denison Park: Tracing of Map Secured From the City
of Corning. call #566; (1947) Denison Park Alterations Required by the State Highway Construction:.... Call
#571, Job #118-47, By Richard C. Ward. Photographs utilized: 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.653), 1907-1909
Construction (94.0.652), 1909 View of Bandstand (94.0.655), 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.654), 1907-1909
Construction (94.0.656).

206 Photographs used: 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.656), 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.652), 1907-1909
Construction (94.0.651). Photos are property and copyright of the Coming Painted-Post Historical Society.

207 Photographs used: 1907-1909 Construction of Denison (94.0.656), 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.648),
1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.649), 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.665), property and copyright of the Corning
Painted-Post Historical Society.



208 photographs used: 1920's Pool (94.0.661), 1915 Wading Pool (94.0.665), 1915 Pool and Playground
(94.0.648), 1909 View of Bandstand (94.0.655), property and copyright of the Coming Painted-Post Historical
Society.

209  Photographs used: 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.648), 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.649), 1915 Pool
and Playground (94.0.665), property and copyright of the Coming Painted-Post Historical Society,

210 Thomas Dimitroff and Lois Janes, History of Corning: 200 Years in Painted Post Country (Corning:
Bookmarks, 1991), 148.

There were several conflicting sources regarding the diameter of the pool. Tom Dimitroff's book claims it to
have been 90 fee. The 1945 Plan (call # 566, DFW of Coming) measures it to be 80 feet in diameter
including the surrounding walk. The 1947 Plan (call #571, DPW of Coming), which was quoted, measured
out at 75 feet including the walk. The remains of the walk are in the park and were measured for exact
identification. The actual 1994 measurement is 75'6", edge to edge of the walk.

211 Photographs used: 1915 Wading Pool (94.0.665), 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.649), 1915 Pool and
Playground (94.0.648), Wading Pool (94.0.657), property and copyright of the Coming Painted-Post Historical
Society.

212 photographs used: 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.654), 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.653), 1909 View of
Bandstand (94.0.655), 1908-1909 Concrete Bridge (94.0.650), 1907-1909 Construction (94.0.656), property and
copyright of the Coming Painted-Post Historical Society.

213 Photographs used: 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.648), 1915 Pool and Playground (94.0.649), 1915 Pool
and Playground (94.0.665), property and copyright of the Comning Painted-Post Historical Society.

214 The measurements for the gateway were made in the field from the existing structure. Note that the heights
were only approximate and not physically measured, do to a lack of a ladder.

215 Photographs used: Gateway (94.0.658), Gateway (94.0.662), property and copyright of the Corning Painted-
Post Historical Society.

216 Photograph used: 1920's Pool and Bath House (94.0.661)
217 Photograph used: 1920's Pool and Bath House (94.0.661)

218 The measurements provided were from the field study. The maps depict the structure as being a rectangle
with a length of 18 feet and width of 15 feet. From the style, material and fact that the structure was never moved
since it's erection the ficld measurements were concluded to have been original.

219 On 1945 Plan, the two bridges forming the entrance from Park Avenue are portrayed as a single bridge,
although it is known from photographs that there were in fact two bridges.



220 The 1945 Plan (call #566) can be found at the Dept. of Public Works, Coming, NY. There is not any
additional information that was found on the bridge in photographic or textual form to aid in a description or to date
the bridges construction and eventual destruction.

221 The tower is not shown on maps but appears in photos and exists today in its original location.

222 Photographs used: Wading Pool (94.0.657), Wading Pool and Playground (94.0.665), property and copyright
of the Corning Painted-Post Historical Society.

223 The measurements for the fountain were made in the field, being there was not any documentation that was
found to include the specifications. Today only 3 of the plaque panels remain, so the inscription of the fourth panel
is unknown.

224 Photographs used: Pool and Bath House (94.0.661), property and copyright of the Comning Painted-Post
Historical Society.

225 There is a partial topographical survey (the 1959 Topographical Layout Plan) of the northern central region
of the park that was made by Ward and Moore of Corning, N. Y., in 1959, Tt includes the northern surrounding area
of the pool and bath house. The map is primarily spot elevations and estimated contours. These maps can be found
at the Comning Depantment of Public Works.

226 Although this information only includes materials used in the interior of the park, the information combined
with an existing survey could give clues as to what was original plant material by comparing age and locaton.

221 The 1959 Topographical Layout can be located at the Dept. of Public Works, Coming, NY.

228 Plans can be found at Hunt Engineers and Architects and DPW, Coming, N. Y., and were originally drawn by
Richard C. Ward, Job #118-47, sheet number 6 of 212. DPW call #571.

229 Original 1947 Plans can be obtained through Hunt Engineers and Architects modified plans are found at the
Coming Department of Public Works, call #571.

230 The footprint on the plan of the stand, measures 20 feet long by 10 feet wide, while its plan for moving shows
measurements of 16 feet 2 inches by 16 feet 2 inches. Plan call #571, DPW, or 1947 Plan of Denison Park, sheet 6
of set 212 - Hunt Engineers and Architects, Coming, NY.

31 The 1959 Topographical Layout Plan was done by Ward and Moore, Coming, NY. The plan can be found at
DPW, Corning, NY.

232 The 1947 Plan of the pits is part of Job #118-47, sheet 6 of set 212 - found at Hunt Engineers and Architects
and the Department of Public Works, Coming, NY (call # 571).



233 For a fully detailed description of the pavilion, note the 1947 Plan, Job #118-47, sheet 5 of set of 212, at Hunt
Engineers and Architects, or call #571 at the DPW, Coming, New York.

234 For detailed description of the new pavilion, see the 1947 Plan, sheet 5 of set of 212. This can be found at
Hunt Engineers and Architects (Job #118-47), or at DPW (call #571), Coming, NY.

235 The boat house appears on the 1947 DPW Plan (call #571), but not the original set of drawings from Hunt
Engineers and Architects. Also, it is not known if the boat house was removed later during the 1947-1972 period or
destroyed in the 1972 flood, as it is not part of the 1973 survey.

236 Itis possible that these features existed during the prior period but they first appear on the 1947 Plan noted as
existing shelters.

237 The basketball courts appear on the 1947 Plan but are not part of the 1973 Survey, indicating that they may
have been removed in the later part of the 1947-1972 period.

238 Itis possible that these bridges were removed prior to the construction of the new highway/bridge. They may
have been deleted when part of the lake was filled in 1939. Unfortunately the only documentation available are the
maps of Denison park and they do not offer such information. The same was true for the eastern boarder bridge as it
was not included as part of the 1947 Denison Park Alterations Plans and not on the map.

239 The tower was not marked on the 1947 Plans (call #571 at the DPW of Corning), but does appear on the 1973

Survey by Ward and Moore of Coming, NY., drawing number 8312, The tower was never moved from it's original
location.

240 The 1959 Topographical Layout Plan by Ward and Moore of Coming, can be obtained through the
Department of Public Works, Coming, NY.

241 The 1947 Plan (call #571, sheet 1 of a set of 212), can be found at Hunt Engineers and Architects, Coming,
N.Y.. The ring levee for the sewage disposal plant was not within the boundaries of the park.

242 The map is located at the DPW, Coming, N. Y., and is identified as the 1959 Ward and Moore Topographical
Layout.

243 Note the 1947 Playground Area Plan, call #553, at the DPW, Coming, N. Y., and the 1959 Ward and Moore
Topographical Layout, also at the DPW.

244 The 1959 Topographical Layout Plan by Ward and Moore is found at the Comning DPW, NY.

245 All plans mentioned may be found at the DPW, Coming, NY. These include the 1947 Plan (call #571), and
the 1959 Topographical Layout Plan by Ward and Moore of Coming, NY,



246 The 1947 'Pfﬂ}rgraund Area Plan (call #553), and the 1947 Denison Park Alterations Plan is Job #118-47
(call #571) and both are found at the Department of Public Works, Coming, NY.

247 The 1947 Plan (call #571, Comning DPW), only shows the filling of the original two sections, one creating the
lagoon and the upper western wing. This is on sheet 4 of 212. The 1973 survey shows the lagoon being already
filled and the remaining section of the western wing cropped off and filled. This survey also includes the new
island. All other maps or plans have been found to explain the reasoning for filling and creating the island or when
it was done.

248 The altering of the parking and addition of the pull through/drop off was more than likely done in 1972 with
the construction of the new pool and bath house/changing facility.

249 Strangely, the memorial arch does not appear on the 1973 Survey by Ward and Moore (job #11-73), found at
Hunt Engineers and Architects, Corning, NY. It is known to exist in the same location that it had been original
relocated to during the park’s reconstruction period because it is there today.

250 The information was found on a 1973 Survey by Ward and Moore (titled: Boundary and Topegraphic
Survey), drawing number 8312, (job #11-73) and can be located at Hunt Engineers and Architects, Coming, NY.
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Ward and Moore survey is drawing number 8312 and can be found at Hunt Engineers and Architects.
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256  The 1973 Survey by Ward and Moore, drawing number 8312, found at Hunt Engineers and Architects,
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